
	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	

	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	
	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	

	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	

	

Entry 1 School Information and Cover Page 

(New schools that were not open for instruction for 

the 2018-19 school year are not required to complete 

or submit an annual report this year). 
Created: 07/23/2019 • Last updated: 07/25/2019 

Please be advised that you will need to complete this cover page (including signatures) before all of the 

other tasks assigned to you by your authorizer are visible on your task page. While completing this cover 
page task, please ensure that you select the correct authorizer (as of June 30, 2019) or you may not be 

assigned the correct tasks. 

BASIC INFORMATION 

a. SCHOOL NAME 

(Select name from the drop down menu) 

a1. Popular School Name 

(Optional) 

b. CHARTER AUTHORIZER (As of 
June 30th, 2019) 

Please select the correct authorizer as of 
June 30, 2019 or you may not be 

assigned the correct tasks. 

c. DISTRICT / CSD OF LOCATION 

d. DATE OF INITIAL CHARTER 

e. DATE FIRST OPENED FOR 

INSTRUCTION 

h. SCHOOL WEB ADDRESS (URL) 

BRONX CHARTER SCHOOL FOR BETTER LEARNING II 

(No response) 

SUNY Authorized Charter School 

NYC CSD 11 

02/2015 

09/2015 

https://www.bronxbetterlearning.org 
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i. TOTAL MAX APPROVED 300 

ENROLLMENT FOR THE 2018-19 

SCHOOL YEAR (exclude Pre-K 

program enrollment) 

j. TOTAL STUDENT ENROLLMENT 296 

ON JUNE 30, 2019 (exclude Pre-K 

program enrollment) 

k. GRADES SERVED IN SCHOOL YEAR 2018-19 (does not include Pre-K program 

students) 
Check all that apply 

Grades Served K, 1, 2, 3 

l1. DOES THE SCHOOL CONTRACT No 

WITH A CHARTER OR 

EDUCATIONAL MANAGEMENT 

ORGANIZATION? 

FACILITIES INFORMATION 

m. FACILITIES 

Does the school maintain or operate multiple sites? 

No, just one site. 

School Site 1 (Primary) 
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m1. SCHOOL SITES 

Please provide the following information for site 1. 

Physical Address 

2545 Baychester
Site 1 Ave 3rd Fl 

Bronx, NY 10469 

Phone Number 

718 655 6660 

etc.) 

NYC CSD 11 K 4 

m1a. Please provide the contact information for Site 1. 

Name 

School Anne Clarke Raysor Leader 

Operati
onal Nicole Tennant 
Leader 

Complia 
nce Anne Clarke Raysor 
Contact 

Complai 
nt Shubert Jacobs 
Contact 

DASA 
Coordin Daniel Tamulonis 
ator 

Phone 
Contact 
for After Anne Clarke Raysor Hours 
Emerge
ncies 

m1b. Is site 1 in public (co-
located) space or in private 

space? 

District/CSD Grades Served Receives Rental 
at Site (K 5, 6 9, Assistance for 

Work Phone Alternate Phone 

Co located Space 

Which Grades (If
yes, enter the
appropriate
grades. If no,
enter No). 

no 

Email Address 
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m1c. Please list the terms of your current co-location. 

Date school 
will leave 
current co
location 

Is school 
working with
NYCDOE to 
expand into 
current 
space? 

If so, list year
expansion
will occur. 

Is school 
working with
NYCDOE to 
move to 
separate
space? 

If so, list the 
proposed
space and
year planned
for move 

School at Full 
Capacity at
Site 

Site 1 n/a Yes 2020 No n/a No 

IF LOCATED IN PRIVATE SPACE IN NYC OR IN DISTRICTS OUTSIDE NYC 

m1d. Upload a current Certificate of Occupancy (COO) and the annual Fire Inspection 

Report for school site 1 if located in private space in NYC or located outside of NYC . 

Site 1 Certificate of Occupancy (COO) 

(No response) 

Site 1 Fire Inspection Report 

(No response) 

CHARTER REVISIONS DURING THE 2018-19 SCHOOL YEAR 

n1. Were there any revisions to No 

the school’s charter during the 

2018-19 school year? (Please 

include approved or pending 

material and non-material 
charter revisions). 

ATTESTATION 

o. Individual Primarily Responsible for Submitting the Annual Report. 

Name Amanda Santos 

Position Assistant Principal 

Phone/Extension 

Email 
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p. Our signatures (Executive Director/School Leader/Head of School and Board 

President) below attest that all of the information contained herein is truthful and 

accurate and that this charter school is in compliance with all aspects of its charter, 
and with all pertinent Federal, State, and local laws, regulations, and rules. We 

understand that if any information in any part of this report is found to have been 

deliberately misrepresented, that will constitute grounds for the revocation of our 

charter. Check YES if you agree and then use the mouse on your PC or the stylist on 

your mobile device to sign your name). 

Yes 

Signature, Head of Charter School 

Signature, President of the Board of Trustees 

Date 2019/07/25 

Thank you. 
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Entry 2 NYS School Report Card Link 
Last updated: 07/24/2019 

BRONX CHARTER SCHOOL FOR BETTER LEARNING II 

1. CHARTER AUTHORIZER (As of 
June 30th, 2019) 

(For technical reasons, please re select 
authorizer name from the drop down 

menu). 

2. NEW YORK STATE REPORT 

CARD 

Provide a direct URL or web link 

to the most recent New York 

State School Report Card for the 

charter school (See 

https://reportcards.nysed.gov/). 

(Charter schools completing year 
one will not yet have a School 
Report Card or link to one. Please 

type "URL is not available" in the 

space provided.) 

SUNY Authorized Charter School 

https://data.nysed.gov/profile.php?instid=800000083986 
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BRONX CHARTER SCHOOL FOR 
BETTER LEARNING 2 

2018-19 ACCOUNTABILITY PLAN 
PROGRESS REPORT 

Submitted to the SUNY Charter Schools Institute on: 

August 26, 2019 

By Kevin Brennan, Ed.D. 

3740 Baychester Ave. – Annex 
Bronx, NY  10466 
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Dr. Kevin Brennan, Executive Director, and Mrs. Anne Clarke-Raysor, Principal, prepared this 2018-
19 Accountability Progress Report on behalf of the school’s Board of Trustees: 

Trustee’s Name Board Position 
Kimberly Kelly Board Chairperson, Complaint Review Policy/Governance Committee, 

Strategic Planning Committee, Finance/Audit Committee 

Marvin Waldman Vice-Chairperson, Fundraising/Development Committee, 
Policy/Governance Committee, Strategic Planning Committee 

Marilyn Maye Treasurer, Finance/Audit Committee, Strategic Planning Committee, 
Education Committee 

William Bernhardt Secretary, Teacher Employment Committee, Education Committee, 
Complaint Committee, Strategic Planning Committee 

Robert Bata Fundraising/Development Committee, Policy/Governance Committee, 
Strategic Planning Committee 

Neal Myerberg Fundraising/Development Committee, Strategic Planning Committee 

Dean Thomas Policy/Governance Committee, Fundraising/Development Committee 

Victor Zimmerman Complaint Review Committee, Fundraising/Development Committee, 
Finance/Audit Committee 

Jem Pagan Fundraising/Development 

Marlon Henry Parent Representative 

Dr. Kevin B. Brennan has served as the Executive Director since June 2010. 
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INTRODUCTION 

The Board of Trustees of the State University of New York approved the application for the Bronx 
Charter School for Better Learning 2 (BBL 2) on June 4, 2014. BBL 2 opened in the fall of 2015 with 
an enrollment of 75 students in Kindergarten. For the 2016-17 school year, BBL 2 added a 1st grade, 
increasing its enrollment to 150 students. BBL 2 continues to add one grade each year, with a 
projected enrollment of 450 students at full capacity in 2020. Since September 2015, the Bronx 
Charter School for Better Learning Educational Corporation (Board of Trustees) has governed both 
charters, i.e., the Bronx Charter School for Better Learning 1 (BBL 1) and BBL 2. 

Prior to the first year of operation, BBL 2 reached a shared space agreement with the New York City 
Department of Education, through which BBL 2, the school, received permission to co-locate on the 
JHS 144 Michelangelo campus, sharing space with two public middle schools: JHS 144 and Pelham 
Gardens. BBL 2 is located at 2545 Gunther Avenue, on the 3rd floor, in CSD 11, approximately two 
miles from BBL 1. The BBL 2 campus will accommodate its growth up to full enrollment. Its original 
Kindergarten classes were situated there in 2015-2016, and 1st grade classes were added for the 
2016-2017 school year. Beginning September 2015, BBL 2 occupied a total of 16 full or half size 
classrooms. For the 2016-2017 school year, BBL 2 occupied a total of 17 full or half size classrooms, 
in the 2017-2018 school year, we occupied 19 full or half size classrooms, and in the 2018-2019 
school year, BBL 2 occupied a total of 22 full or half size classrooms. The school occupies two extra 
full size classrooms for the 2019-2020 school year, with plans to eventually occupy the entire 3rd 

floor at full capacity. 

The mission of The Bronx Charter School for Better Learning 2 is as follows: 

The Bronx Charter School for Better Learning provides its students with a solid foundation for 
academic success, through achievement that exceeds citywide averages and meets or 
exceeds New York State standards and national norms in all curriculum areas tested, 
especially in mathematics and language arts. Our teaching constantly adjusts to the needs 
of our students, leading to independence, autonomy, responsibility and a sustained love of 
learning, all of which contribute directly to high academic achievement. 

To fulfill its mission, the school’s teachers endeavor to practice the Subordination of Teaching to 
Learning, an instructional approach that does not dominate learning, but rather is guided by it. 
Implementing the approach involves: getting students actively and mentally engaged in lessons; 
assisting students to go beyond rote memorization, wherever the subject matter allows, and to 
develop criteria for understanding; recognizing every child’s high intellectual capacity and, thereby, 
welcoming errors in students’ work as guides to help them harness that capacity; promoting 
students’ use of what they know to master new content; and encouraging student initiative and 
self-sufficiency. 

The Bronx Charter School for Better Learning 2: 

 is not test-prep driven; as noted, the instructional approach is constructivist: we know 
children "construct" their knowledge, understanding and skills, so our teaching is guided by 

Bronx Charter School for Better Learning 2 2018-19 Accountability Plan Progress Report Page 2 



                                      

      

     

      

    

        
       

 
 

        
 

 
              

               

               

               

               

 

their learning and does not attempt to control it; 

 does not have extended school days; 

 does not incorporate an extended school year; 

 backfills at all grade levels; and 

 serves all students, including those eligible for free and reduced lunch, eligible for special 
education services and/or eligible for support as English Language Learners (ELL). 

School Enrollment by Grade Level and School Year 

School 
Year 

K 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 Total 

2015-2016 75 75 

2016-2017 78 72 150 

2017-2018 73 76 76 225 

2018-2019 74 72 78 75 297 

Bronx Charter School for Better Learning 2 2018-19 Accountability Plan Progress Report Page 3 



                                      

   

 

    
       

 
 

 
 

              
          

        
       

        
        

     
 

       
          

       
    

 

      
      

       

         
  

       

        
   

        

         
    

         

          
    

      
            
    

       

           
        

 
 
 

ENGLISH LANGUAGE ARTS 

Goal 1: English Language Arts 
Students will become proficient readers and writers of the English Language. 

BACKGROUND 

The Bronx Charter School for Better Learning 2 (BBL 2) maintains a focus on four priorities: 1) 
Instructional Rigor, to ensure that every student receives an instructional program that is rigorous 
and enriching; 2) Data-Based Decision Making, to ensure that all instructional decisions are based 
on student performance; 3) Meeting Individual Student Needs, to ensure that the instructional 
program regularly adapts to meet the needs of each student; 4) Student Empowerment, to ensure 
that through an instructional program that emphasizes engagement, effort and efficacy, all students 
sustain a personal sense of their own innate abilities. 

During the 2018-19 school year, BBL 2 maintained its strong commitment, as a replication of Bronx 
Better Learning 1 (BBL 1), to ensure a quality ELA program for all of its students, through the 
delivery of a comprehensive and challenging instructional program that is aligned with the New 
York State Learning Standards by: 

 Emphasizing the consistent application of Bronx Better Learning’s pedagogical approach, 
the Subordination of Teaching to Learning; 

 Refining the curriculum to ensure its alignment with the State’s Learning Standards; 

 Incorporating as part of its reading foundation the use of Reader’s Workshop and Writer’s 
Workshop throughout the school; 

 Fostering a joy for reading through the Growing Great Readers program; 

 Encouraging students to raise their own expectations of their reading capacity through the 
Accelerated Readers program; 

 Making available to all students, access to an extensive classroom library; 

 Closely monitoring each student’s progress through the use of regularly scheduled interim 
assessments and the scheduling of a monthly “Data Day”; 

 Providing supplemental support to students identified as not progressing as expected; 

 Appointing high performing teachers to the position of Academic Leader assigned to further 
support teacher development at each grade level; 

 Providing professional development through our in-house professional development 
specialists to both teachers and assistants to enhance each person’s readiness to support 
the needs of all of our students; 

 Utilizing writing rubrics that are aligned with the State’s Learning Standards; and 

 Providing feedback to teachers and assistants on their instructional approach through 
increasing the frequency of classroom observations and “walkthroughs” by administration. 

Bronx Charter School for Better Learning 2 2018-19 Accountability Plan Progress Report Page 4 



                                      

 

  
 

             
          

 

 
 

 
 

      
             

    
 

         
              

       
          

     
 

    
     

 

 
 

 
     

       

       

       

       

 
   

 
         

          
       

     
          

 
        

      
        

  
 
 
 
 

Goal: Absolute Measure 

Each year, 75% of all tested students enrolled in at least their second year will perform at 
proficiency on the New York State (NYS)English Language Arts exam for grades 3-5. 

METHOD 

The school administered the New York State Testing Program English Language Arts (“ELA”) 
assessment to students in third grade in April 2019. Each student’s raw score has been converted 
to a grade-specific scaled score and a performance level. 

The table below summarizes participation information for this year’s test administration. The table 
indicates total enrollment and total number of students tested. It also provides a detailed 
breakdown of those students excluded from the exam.  Note that this table includes all students 
according to grade level, even if they have not been enrolled in a t least their second year (defined 
as enrolled by BEDS day of the previous school year). 

2018-2019 State English Language Arts Exam 
Number of Students Tested and Not Tested 

Grade 
Total 

Tested 
Not Tested Total 

Enrolled IEP ELL Absent Refused 

3 75 0 0 0 0 75 

4 

5 

All 75 0 0 0 0 75 

RESULTS AND EVALUATION 

While we are encouraged by the percent of 3rd grade students who were proficient or above on the 
NYS ELA assessment in 2019, we recognize there is still work to be done. We did not meet our 
Absolute Measure of 75% of our students being proficient; however, given this was the students’ 
first NYS testing year, we are satisfied by the percentage of students who performed well.  For 
those students enrolled in at least their second year at BBL, 62% performed at proficient levels. 

Our pedagogy and instructional delivery support all of our students’ individual learning needs.  
Small group instruction and additional instruction for those students who are underperforming on 
classroom assessments as well as NYS-aligned grade level assessments are the cornerstone of our 
educational structure. 
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2018-2019 State English Language Arts Exam 
Number of Students Tested and Not Tested 

Grades 
All Students 

Enrolled in at least their 
Second Year 

Percent 
Proficient 

Number 
Tested 

Percent 
Proficient 

Number 
Tested 

3 60% 75 62% 68 

4 

5 

All 60% 75 62% 68 

Goal 2: Absolute Measure 

Each year, the school’s aggregate Performance Index (“PI”) on the NYS English Language Arts 
exam will meet that year’s state Measure of Interim Progress (“MIP”) set forth in the state’s ESSA 
accountability system. 

METHOD 

In New York State, ESSA school performance goals are met by showing that an absolute proportion 
of a school’s students who have taken the English Language Arts test have scored at the partially 
proficient, or proficient and advanced performance levels (Levels 2, 3 & 4).  The percentage of 
students at each of these three levels is used to calculate a PI and determine if the school has met 
the MIP set each year by the state’s ESSA accountability system. To achieve this measure, all tested 
students must have a PI value that equals or exceeds the state’s 2018-2019 English Language Arts 
MIP for all students.  The state plans to calculate and disseminate the MIP in summer 2019.  The PI 
is the sum of the percent of students in all tested grades combined scoring at Level 2, plus two 
times the percent of students scoring at Level 3, plus two-and-a-half times the percent of students 
scoring at Level 4. Thus, the highest possible PI is 250. 

RESULTS AND EVALUATION 

The school performance index was 158, exceeding the state MIP of 105 by 53 points. BBL 2 met the 
criteria for this measure. 
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English Language Arts 2018-2019 Performance Index 

Number in Percent of Students at Each Performance Level 
Cohort Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Level 4 

68 7 31 56 6 

PI = 31 + 56 + 6 = 93 
56 + 6 = 62 

+ (.5)*6 = 3 
PI = 158 

Goal 1: Comparative Measure 

Each year, the percent of all tested students who are enrolled in at least their second year and 
performing at proficiency on the NYS English Language Arts exam will be greater than that of 
students in the same tested grades in the local school district. 

METHOD 

A school compares tested students enrolled in at least their second year to all tested students in the 
public school district of comparison.  Comparisons are between the results for each grade in which 
the school had tested students in at least their second year at the school and the total results for all 
students at the corresponding grades in the school district. 

RESULTS AND EVALUATION 

BBL 2’s continuously enrolled students exceeded District 11’s grade level peers’ performance on the 
NYS ELA assessment for the 2018-19 school year. The percent of BBL 2’s continuously enrolled 
students achieving a level 3 or 4 was 62%, while 43% of District 11’s 3rd grade cohort scored at or 
above proficiency.  BBL 2 exceeded District 11’s performance by 19 percentage points, thereby 
meeting the target for this measure. 

2018-2019 State English Language Arts Exam 
BBL 2 and District Performance by Grade Level 

Grade 

Percent of Students at or Above Proficiency 

BBL 2 Students in at 
Least their 2nd Year 

All District 11 Students 

Percent 
Number 
Tested 

Percent 
Number 
Tested 

3 62% 68 43% 3013 

4 

5 

All 62% 68 43% 3013 
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Goal 2: Comparative Measure 

Each year, the school will exceed its predicted level of performance on the NYS English Language 
Arts exam by an Effect Size of 0.3 or above (performing higher than expected to a small degree) 
according to a regression analysis controlling for Growth Measures. 

METHOD 

The SUNY Charter Schools Institute (“Institute”) conducts a comparative performance analysis, 
which compares the school’s performance to that of demographically similar public schools 
statewide. The Institute uses a regression analysis to control for the percentage of economically 
disadvantaged students among all public schools in New York State. The Institute compares the 
school’s actual performance to the predicted performance of public schools with a similar 
concentration of economically disadvantaged students.  The difference between the school’s actual 
and predicted performance, relative to other schools with similar economically disadvantaged 
statistics, produces an Effect Size. An Effect Size of 0.3, or performing higher than expected to a 
meaningful degree, is the requirement for achieving this measure. 

Given the timing of the state’s release of economically disadvantaged data and the demands of the 
data analysis, the 2018-19 analysis is not yet available. 

RESULTS AND EVALUATION 

Since this was the first year BBL 2 had a testing grade, there is not a prior year analysis to report. 

Goal 1: Growth Measure 

Each year, under the state’s Growth Model, the school’s mean unadjusted growth percentile in 
English Language Arts for all tested students in grades 4-8 will be above the target of 50. 

METHOD 

This measure examines the change in performance of the same group of students from one year to 
the next and the progress they are making in comparison to other students with the same score in 
the previous year.  The analysis only includes students who took the state exam in 2017-2018 and 
also have a state exam score from 2016-17, including students who were retained in the same 
grade. Students with the same 2016-17 score are ranked by their 2017-18 score and assigned a 
percentile based on their relative growth in performance (student growth percentile).  Students’ 
growth percentiles are aggregated school-wide to yield a school’s mean growth percentile.  In order 
for a school to perform above the target for this measure, it must have a mean growth percentile 
greater than 50. 

Bronx Charter School for Better Learning 2 2018-19 Accountability Plan Progress Report Page 8 





                                      

           
       

    
       

       
            

       
      

       
        

     
     

    
      

           
         

 
         

       
 

          
   

        
    

    
  

        
     

     
       

    
 

    
        

       
 

     
       

    
    

            
          

         
        

        

to work with students according to their specific reading levels, and an opportunity 
to focus on targeted skills to aid in increasing reading comprehension. 

2. Instructional Rigor. We will continue to maintain: 
a. A high level of administrative support: The Principal has an especially strong 

background in ELA. She will continue to make frequent classroom visits to ensure 
instructional rigor and continuity in the instructional program across the school. She 
will review weekly lesson plans and provide targeted feedback during 
“walkthroughs,” as well as during grade level meetings. 

b. The addition of an Assistant Principal: The school made a deliberate effort to ensure 
the continuity of our ELA program by hiring additional administrative support. The 
Assistant Principal will support the Principal in her efforts to ensure instructional 
rigor and the continuity of our ELA program. 

3. Continued Increased Adult Supervision: We will continue to provide small group instruction 
as part of our pedagogy. Furthermore, we will have self-contained 3rd grade classrooms 
with 2 teachers and one assistant. That level of staffing will further improve the student-to-
adult ratio, and will allow the teacher to create smaller groups during instruction and more 
individualized instruction. 

4. Data Driven Decision Making: Monthly reviews of running records will take place during our 
Data Day time allotment to ensure that students are making substantial growth throughout 
the school year.  

5. Student Support: Students who are “at-risk” will be identified early in the school year to 
ensure that they receive the support services needed. 

a. Special education instructional options: Students who are identified as being in need 
of special education services will continue to receive those services throughout the 
school day, including integrated co-teaching (ICT) and Special Education Teacher 
Support Services (SETTS). 

b. English Language Learners: We will ensure that students who are identified as 
English language learners receive an effective delivery of instruction that meets their 
needs, in full accord with our charter. 

c. Academic support: The scheduling of academic support, both during and after 
school hours, will be reviewed and expanded as needed to better meet the needs of 
underperforming students. 

6. Professional Development: The ELA professional development staff will continue to work 
with teachers and classroom assistants to provide the highest quality of instruction through 
professional development sessions during lunch and after school hours, along with in-class 
support. 

7. School Collaboration: We will continue to partner with Pelham Gardens Middle School 
(Pelham Gardens) through a collaborative literacy program. Students from Pelham Gardens 
volunteer to read with our students to promote school collaboration and a culture of 
literacy throughout the building. 

8. ELA Nights for Parents: The school with host a series of ELA nights for parents to gain insight 
into our ELA program. They will learn strategies that they can use at home to supplement 
our efforts at school, which will support our literacy efforts. The first of those meetings will 
take place within the first two months of school to ensure parents have an opportunity to 
supplement our literacy efforts at school early on. 
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MATHEMATICS 

Goal 2: Mathematics 

Students will demonstrate competency in the understanding and application of mathematical 
computation and problem solving. 

BACKGROUND 

BBL 2 maintains a focus on four priorities: 1) Instructional Rigor, to ensure that every student 
receives an instructional program that is rigorous and enriching; 2) Data Based Decision Making, to 
ensure that all instructional decisions are based on student performance; 3) Meeting Individual 
Student Needs, to ensure that the instructional program regularly adapts to meet the needs of each 
student; 4) Student Empowerment, to ensure that through an instructional program that 
emphasizes engagement, effort and efficacy all students sustain a personal sense of their own 
innate abilities. 

BBL 2 demonstrates a strong commitment to those school-wide priorities, as a replication of BBL 1, 
to ensure the delivery of a challenging and meaningful instructional program in mathematics for all 
of its students by: 

 Reviewing the mathematics curriculum to ensure that the pacing of the instructional 
program effectively supports student learning of the full scope of the Learning Standards; 

 Maintaining a strong commitment to the Bronx Better Learning’s pedagogical approach, the 
subordination of teaching to learning; 

 Consistently applying the use of manipulatives, primarily Cuisenaire rods, even in the 
earliest stages, so students develop models for thinking mathematically; 

 Providing supplemental support to students identified as not progressing as expected; 

 Continuing to provide professional development, through our in-house professional 
development specialists, to both teachers and assistants to bolster each person’s readiness 
to meet the needs of all of our students; 

 Increasing feedback to teachers and assistants on their instructional approach through more 
frequent classroom visits by the Principal; 

 Emphasizing our students’ development of two overarching capacities, i.e., becoming swift 
and accurate in computation skills and increasing their ability to focus on problem solving 
activities that involve practice and real world application of those skills; and 

 Ensuring that instructional decisions are made based on specific student performance data. 
As with ELA, teachers utilize both formative and summative assessments, along with real-
time, moment-to-moment analysis of how students are responding to instruction. 

Bronx Charter School for Better Learning 2 2018-19 Accountability Plan Progress Report Page 11 



                                      

 

  
              

        

 
 

 

       
          

   
 

         
              

          
      

 
 

   
     

 

 
 

 
     

       

       

       

       

 
   

 
           

      
  

 
    

          
 
 

 
 

    
  

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

     

     

     

     

Goal 2: Absolute Measure 
Each year, 75 percent of all tested students enrolled in at least their second year will perform at 
proficiency on the New York State (NYS) Mathematics exam for grades 3-5. 

METHOD 

The school administered the New York State Testing Program mathematics assessment to students 
in third grade in April 2019.  Each student’s raw score has been converted to a grade-specific scaled 
score and a performance level. 

The table below summarizes participation information for this year’s test administration. The table 
indicates total enrollment and total number students tested. It also provides a detailed breakdown 
of those students excluded from the exam. Note that this table includes all students according to 
grade level, even if they have not enrolled in at least their second year. 

2018-2019 State Mathematics Exam 
Number of Students Tested and Not Tested 

Grade 
Total 

Tested 
Not Tested Total 

Enrolled IEP ELL Absent Refused 

3 75 0 0 0 0 75 

4 

5 

All 75 0 0 0 0 75 

RESULTS AND EVALUATION 

78% of BBL 2’s continuously enrolled students scored at proficiency or above on the NY State 
mathematics, exceeding the target by 3 percentage points, thereby achieving the benchmark for 
this measure. 

Performance on 2018-2019 State Mathematics Exam 
By All Students and Students Enrolled in At Least Their Second Year 

Grades 
All Students 

Enrolled in At Least Their 
Second Year 

Percent 
Proficient 

Number 
Tested 

Percent 
Proficient 

Number 
Tested 

3 75% 75 78% 68 

4 

5 

All 75% 75 78% 68 
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Goal 2: Absolute Measure 
Each year, the school’s aggregate Performance Index (“PI”) on the NYS Mathematics exam will 
meet that year’s state Measure of Interim Progress (“MIP”) set forth in the state’s ESSA 
accountability system. 

METHOD 

In New York State, ESSA school performance goals are met by showing that an absolute proportion 
of a school’s students who have taken the mathematics test have scored at the partially proficient, 
or proficient and advanced performance levels (Levels 2 or 3 & 4). The percentage of students at 
each of these three levels is used to calculate a PI and determine if the school has met the MIP set 
each year by the state’s ESSA accountability system.  To achieve this measure, all tested students 
must have a PI value that equals or exceeds the state’s 2018-19 mathematics MIP for all students.  
The state plans to calculate and disseminate the MIP in summer 2019.  The PI is the sum of the 
percent of students in all tested grades combined scoring at Level 2, plus two times the percent of 
students scoring at Level 3, plus two-and-a-half times the percent of students scoring at Level 4. 
Thus, the highest possible PI is 250. 

RESULTS AND EVALUATION 

The school performance index was 187, exceeding the state’s MIP of 107 by 80 points. BBL 2 met 
the criteria for this measures. 

Mathematics 2018-2019 Performance Index 

Number in Percent of Students at Each Performance Level 

Cohort Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Level 4 

68 4 18 52 26 

PI = 18 + 52 + 26 = 96 
52 + 26 = 78 

+ (.5)*26 = 13 
PI =  187 

Bronx Charter School for Better Learning 2 2018-19 Accountability Plan Progress Report Page 13 



                                      

   
      

 

  
                

              
         

 
 

 
 

          
      

           
       

 
   

 
        

        
         
         

   
 
 
 
 
 

 

    

   
   

   

 
 

 
 

 
 

     

     

     

     

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Goal 1: Comparative Measure 
Each year, the percent of all tested students who are enrolled in at least their second year and 
performing at proficiency on the NYS Mathematics exam will be greater than that of students in 
the same tested grades in the local school district. 

METHOD 

A school compares the performance of tested students enrolled in at least their second year to that 
of all tested students in the public school district of comparison.  Comparisons are between the 
results for each grade in which the school had tested students in at least their second year at the 
school and the total result for all students at the corresponding grades in the school district. 

RESULTS AND EVALUATION 

BBL 2’s continuously enrolled students exceeded District 11’s grade level peers’ performance on the 
NYS mathematics assessment for the 2018-19 school year.  The percent of BBL 2’s continuously 
enrolled students achieving a level 3 or 4 was 78%, while 43% of District 11’s 3rd grade cohort 
scored at or above proficiency.  BBL 2 exceeded District 11’s performance by 30 percentage points, 
thereby meeting the target for this measure. 

2018-2019 State Mathematics Exam 
BBL 2 and District Performance by Grade Level 

Grade 

Percent of Students at or Above Proficiency 

BBL Students in at Least 
their 2nd Year 

All District 11 Students 

Percent 
Number 
Tested 

Percent 
Number 
Tested 

3 78% 68 43% 3065 

4 

5 

All 78% 68 43% 3065 
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Goal 2: Comparative Measure 
Each year, the school will exceed its predicted level of performance on the NYS Mathematics 
exam by an Effect Size of 0.3 or above (performing higher than expected to a small degree) 
according to a regression analysis controlling for Growth Measure. 

METHOD 

The SUNY Charter Schools Institute (“Institute”) conducts a comparative performance analysis, 
which compares the school’s performance to that of demographically similar public schools 
statewide. The Institute uses a regression analysis to control for the percentage of economically 
disadvantaged students among all public schools in New York State. The Institute compares the 
school’s actual performance to the predicted performance of public schools with a similar 
concentration of economically disadvantaged students.  The difference between the school’s actual 
and predicted performance, relative to other schools with similar economically disadvantaged 
statistics, produces an Effect Size. An Effect Size of 0.3, or performing higher than expected to a 
meaningful degree, is the requirement for achieving this measure. 

Given the timing of the state’s release of economically disadvantaged data and the demands of the 
data analysis, the 2018-19 analysis is not yet available. 

RESULTS AND EVALUATION 

Since this was the first year BBL 2 had a testing grade, there is not a prior year analysis to report. 

Goal 1: Growth Measure 
Each year, under the state’s Growth Model, the school’s mean unadjusted growth percentile in 
Mathematics for all tested students in grades 4-8 will be above the target of 50. 

METHOD 

This measure examines the change in performance of the same group of students from one year to 
the next and the progress they are making in comparison to other students with the same score in 
the previous year.  The analysis only includes students who took the state exam in 2017-2018 and 
also have a state exam score from 2016-17 including students who were retained in the same 
grade. Students with the same 2016-17 score are ranked by their 2017-18 score and assigned a 
percentile based on their relative growth in performance (student growth percentile).  Students’ 
growth percentiles are aggregated school-wide to yield a school’s mean growth percentile.  In order 
for a school to perform above the target for this measure, it must have a mean growth percentile 
greater than 50. 
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1. Instructional Alignment: Our mathematics professional development staff, as well as the 
two mathematics Academic Leaders, along with our teachers, will continue to review our 
informal assessments and our in-class assignments to reflect the structure of the 
assessment questions of the NYS Mathematics exam. Through weekly grade-level planning, 
professional development staff, AL’s and teachers will adapt the curriculum to ensure 
students’ familiarity of the nature of the assessment when tested, especially in 3rd grade, 
which once again will include a cohort of students who will be taking this assessment for the 
first time. 

2. Instructional Rigor: The mathematics program will continue to focus on ensuring that 
students demonstrate competence in their understanding and application of mathematical 
computation and problem solving. The assigned mathematics Academic Leaders have 
several years’ experience with the mathematics curriculum.  Their expertise will support the 
teachers’ professional development, curriculum planning, the facilitation of common 
planning meetings, one-on-one targeted coaching with the teachers around our approach 
and the use of manipulatives in the classroom. 

3. Data Driven Decision Making: 
a. Twice annually, we will give NYS practice assessments, which will help to monitor 

student progress and to identify where the instructional program requires 
modification to better support student learning. 

b. NYS assessment-like centers will be created and incorporated into daily math 
lessons to allow teachers an additional opportunity to monitor student progress and 
adjust instruction as necessary. 

c. Weekend homework will be given with NYS assessment-like questions added to give 
students additional opportunities to practice skills assessed on the NYS Mathematics 
exam. We also assign “break packets” for the long vacations in December, February 
and April to ensure consistent focus on mathematics. 

d. We will conduct a formal midterm assessment for both 3rd and 4th grades to assess 
how they are achieving the curricular and instructional goals. We will assess them in 
January using EdVista. 

e. We have monthly “Data Days” built into our calendar.  We will increase our focus on 
specific grade-level skills identified through item analysis. 

9. Continued Adult Supervision: That level of staffing will maintain a favorable student to adult 
ratio, and will allow our teachers to create smaller groups during instruction and more 
individualized instruction. 

4. Student Support: Students who are “at-risk” will be identified early in the school year to 
ensure that they receive the support services needed. 

a. Special Education instructional options: Students who are identified as being in need 
of special education services will continue to receive those services throughout the 
school day, including integrated co-teaching (ICT) and Special Education Teacher 
Support Services (SETTS). 

b. English Language Learners: We will ensure that students who are identified as 
English language learners receive an effective delivery of instruction that meets their 
needs, in full accord with our charter. 

c. Academic support: The scheduling of academic support, both during and after 
school hours, will be reviewed and expanded as needed to better meet the needs of 
underperforming students. 
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5. Professional Development: The mathematics professional development staff will continue 
to work with teachers and classroom assistants to provide the highest quality of instruction 
through regularly scheduled professional development sessions during lunch and after 
school hours, as well as in-class support to ensure the application of the school’s pedagogy 
throughout each class. Approximately 40% of our instructional staff attended a week-long 
mathematics professional development workshop over the summer to further enhance 
their teaching skills as well as to improve their understanding and delivery of the pedagogy 
we use at BBL.  We will also have additional time allotted to BBL 2 from three of our 
Professional Development Specialists.  

6. Home-School Connection: To build more support for mathematics at home, we will continue 
to use parent-teacher conferences to review individual scores with parents, “Coffee and 
Conversation” sessions to go over overall progress of each grade, and two Curriculum Nights 
in the beginning of the year – one in September for all parents and one in October for 
parents new to our school.  Our primary purpose will be to increase parents’ comfort with 
and willingness to rely on manipulatives to bolster students’ deep understanding of basic 
mathematical concepts. 

7. Administrative Support: 
The Principal will make more frequent visits into the classrooms to ensure continuity in the 
instructional program across the grades, as well as to ensure instructional rigor.  Our 
Assistant Principal has expertise in mathematics instruction, and will assist the Principal in 
ensuring the implementation of these action steps. She will very closely monitor the 
mathematics program to ensure that students’ needs are met and progress is being made 
by: 

i. frequent visits to the classrooms. 
ii. reviewing weekly lesson plans and homework. 

iii. providing targeted feedback to both teachers and assistants. 
iv. working closely with the Academic Leaders, PD staff and teachers to ensure 

consistency in rigor of mathematics instruction throughout the grades. 

GOAL 3: SCIENCE 

Not applicable – BBL 2 did not have a 4th Grade during the 2018-19 school year. 
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GOAL 4: ESSA 

Goal 4: ESSA 

The school will make Adequate Yearly Progress. 

Goal 1: Comparative Measure 
Under the state’s ESSA accountability system, the school is in good standing: the state has not 
identified the school for comprehensive or targeted improvement. 

METHOD 

Because all students are expected to meet the state’s performance standards, the federal statute 
stipulates that various sub-populations and demographic categories of students among all tested 
students must meet the state standard in and of themselves aside from the overall school results. 
As New York State, like all states, is required to establish a specific system for making these 
determinations for its public schools, charter schools do not have latitude in establishing their own 
performance levels or criteria of success for meeting the ESSA accountability requirements.  Each 
year, the state issues School Report Cards that indicate a school’s status under the state 
accountability system. 

RESULTS AND EVALUATION 

The Bronx Charter School for Better Learning 2 is in Good Standing. 
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Entry 4 Expenditures per Child 
Last updated: 07/25/2019 

BRONX CHARTER SCHOOL FOR BETTER LEARNING IISection Heading 

Financial Information 

This information is required of ALL charter schools. Provide the following measures of fiscal 
performance of the charter school in Appendix B (Total Expenditures and Administrative Expenditures 

Per Child): 

1. Total Expenditures Per Child 

To calculate ‘Total Expenditures per Child’ take total expenditures (from the unaudited 2018-
19 Schedule of Functional Expenses) and divide by the year end FTE student enrollment. 
(Integers Only. No dollar signs or commas). 

Note: The information on the Schedule of Functional Expenses on pages 41–43 of the 

Audit Guide can help schools locate the amounts to use in the two per pupil 
calculations: Audit Guide available within the portal or on the NYSED website 

at: http://www.p12.nysed.gov/psc/regentsoversightplan/otherdocuments/auditguide2018.pdf. 

Line 1: Total Expenditures 4508703 

Line 2: Year End FTE student enrollment 296 

Line 3: Divide Line 1 by Line 2 15249 

1 / 2 



	 	

	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 		 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

	 		 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 		 	
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 		

		
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

	
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	
	

	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	

	

2. Administrative Expenditures per Child 

To calculate ‘Administrative Expenditures per Child' To calculate “Administrative Expenditures per 

Child” first add together the following: 

1. Take the relevant portion from the ‘personnel services cost’ row and the ‘management and general’ 
column (from the unaudited 2018 19 Schedule of Functional Expenses) 

2. Any contracted administrative/management fee paid to other organizations or corporations 

3. Take the total from above and divide it by the year end FTE enrollment. The relevant portion that must 
be included in this calculation is defined as follows: 

Administrative Expenditures: Administration and management of the charter school includes the 

activities and personnel of the offices of the chief school officer, the finance or business offices, school 
operations personnel, data management and reporting, human resources, technology, etc. It also 

includes those administrative and management services provided by other organizations or corporations 

on behalf of the charter school for which the charter school pays a fee or other compensation. Do not 
include the FTE of personnel whose role is to directly support the instructional program. 

Notes: 
The information on the Schedule of Functional Expenses on pages 41–43 of the Audit Guide 

can help schools locate the amounts to use in the two per pupil calculations: 
http://www.p12.nysed.gov/psc/AuditGuide.html. 
Employee benefit costs or expenditures should not be reported in the above calculations. 

Line 1: Relevant Personnel Services 
Cost (Row) 

Line 2: Management and General Cost
(Column) 

Line 3: Sum of Line 1 and Line 2 

Line 5: Divide Line 3 by the Year End
FTE student enrollment 

Thank you. 

274187 

113843 

388030 

1312 

2 / 2 



 

 

 

 

 
 

 
 

 

 

 
 

 

BRONX CHARTER SCHOOL FOR BETTER LEARNING 

BRONX, NEW YORK 

AUDITED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

OTHER FINANCIAL INFORMATION 

REPORT REQUIRED BY 
GOVERNMENT AUDITING STANDARDS 

AND 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORTS 

JUNE 30, 2019 
(With Comparative Totals for 2018) 



 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 
  
 
  
 
   
 
  
 
 
 
  
 
 

 
   
 
   
 
  
 
   
 

 
  
  
     
 

CONTENTS 

AUDITED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS PAGE 

Independent Auditor's Report 3 

Statement of Financial Position 5 

Statement of Activities and Changes in Net Assets 6 

Statement of Functional Expenses 7 

Statement of Cash Flows 8 

Notes to Financial Statements 9 

OTHER FINANCIAL INFORMATION 

Independent Auditor’s Report on Other Financial Information 19 

REPORT REQUIRED BY GOVERNMENT AUDITING STANDARDS 

Independent Auditor’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting and on 
Compliance and Other Matters Based on an Audit of Financial Statements 

Statement of Activities and Changes in Net Assets by Charter 20 

Statement of Functional Expenses Bronx Charter School for Better Learning I 21 

Statement of Functional Expenses Bronx Charter School for Better Learning II 22 

Performed in Accordance with Government Auditing Standards 24 



 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 

 

 
 

  
 

 

 
  

 
   

  
 

 
    

     
  

  
  

 

 
 

  
 

 
  

 
  

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 

Board of Trustees 
Bronx Charter School for Better Learning 

Report on the Financial Statements 

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Bronx Charter School for Better Learning, which 
comprise the statement of financial position as of June 30, 2019, and the related statements of activities and 
changes in net assets, functional expenses, and cash flows for the year then ended, and the related notes to the 
financial statements. 

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance 
with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this includes the design, 
implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial 
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

Auditor’s Responsibility 

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit 
in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America and the standards 
applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards issued by the Comptroller General of the 
United States. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about 
whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the 
financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of the 
risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk 
assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the 
financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the 
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. Accordingly, we express no 
such opinion. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the 
reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall 
presentation of the financial statements. 
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We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit 
opinion. 

Opinion 

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial 
position of Bronx Charter School for Better Learning as of June 30, 2019, and the changes in its net assets and its 
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States 
of America. 

Report on Summarized Comparative Information 

We have previously audited Bronx Charter School for Better Learning’s June 30, 2018 financial statements, and we 
expressed an unmodified audit opinion on those audited financial statements in our report dated October 22, 2018. 
In our opinion, the summarized comparative information presented herein as of and for the year ended June 30, 
2018 is consistent, in all material respects, with the audited financial statements from which it has been derived. 

Other Report Required by Government Auditing Standards 

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated October 21, 2019 on our 
consideration of Bronx Charter School for Better Learning’s internal control over financial reporting and on our 
tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements and other 
matters. The purpose of that report is to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over financial reporting 
and compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on internal control over financial 
reporting or on compliance. That report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government 
Auditing Standards in considering Bronx Charter School for Better Learning’s internal control over other financial 
reporting and compliance. 

Rochester, New York 
October 21, 2019 
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BRONX CHARTER SCHOOL FOR BETTER LEARNING 

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 

JUNE 30, 2019 
(With Comparative Totals for 2018) 

June 30, 
ASSETS 2019 2018 

CURRENT ASSETS
  Cash and cash equivalents 

Certificates of deposit 
  Accounts receivable 
  Grants and contracts receivables 

Prepaid expenses and other current assets 
TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS 

$ 2,942,769 $ 1,639,048 
1,087,957 1,082,349

188,092 443,405
229,444 234,372

60,594 51,259 

4,508,856 3,450,433 

PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT, net 444,538 420,630 

OTHER ASSET - escrow account 156,129 156,390 

TOTAL ASSETS $ 5,109,523 $ 4,027,453 

LIABILITIES AND NET ASSETS 

CURRENT LIABILITIES
  Accounts payable and accrued expenses $ 240,019 $ 159,491 
  Accrued payroll and benefits 1,330,661 1,121,374
  Deferred revenue 50,726 27,539 

TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES 1,621,406 1,308,404 

NET ASSETS
 Without donor restrictions 3,485,085 2,709,697
 With donor restrictions 3,032 9,352 

TOTAL NET ASSETS 3,488,117 2,719,049 

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND NET ASSETS $ 5,109,523 $ 4,027,453 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements. 
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BRONX CHARTER SCHOOL FOR BETTER LEARNING 

STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES AND CHANGES IN NET ASSETS 

YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2019 
(With Comparative Totals for 2018) 

Year ended June 30, 

Revenue, gains, and other support:
  Public school district
    Resident student enrollment 
    Students with disabilities 
  Grants and contracts
    State and local 
    Federal - Title and IDEA 
    Federal - other 

TOTAL REVENUE, GAINS 
AND OTHER SUPPORT 

Without donor 
restrictions 

$ 13,310,821 
1,078,770 

209,569 
605,986 
173,023 

15,378,169 

2019 
With donor 
restrictions 

$ -
-

-
-
-

-

$ 

Total 

13,310,821 
1,078,770 

209,569 
605,986 
173,023 

15,378,169 

$ 

2018 

Total 

11,321,084 
700,439

260,323
604,544
350,758 

13,237,148 

Expenses:
  Program services:
    Regular education 
    Special education 
  Total program services 
  Management and general 

Fundraising and special events 

TOTAL OPERATING EXPENSES 

11,465,404 
2,310,217

13,775,621 
837,440 
176,791 

14,789,852 

-
-
-
-
-

-

11,465,404 
2,310,217 

13,775,621 
837,440 
176,791 

14,789,852 

10,265,053
1,795,867

12,060,920
843,989 
190,927 

13,095,836 

SURPLUS FROM 
SCHOOL OPERATIONS 588,317 - 588,317 141,312 

Support and other revenue:

 Contributions
    Foundations 
    Individuals 
 Fundraising 
 Interest income 
 Miscellaneous income 

 Net assets released from restriction 

TOTAL SUPPORT AND OTHER REVENUE 

79,625 
63,791 
11,260 

7,127 
3,380 

21,888 

187,071 

-
15,568 

-
-
-

(21,888) 

(6,320) 

79,625 
79,359 
11,260 

7,127 
3,380 

-

180,751 

77,652
34,201
77,856

9,129
55,032

 -

253,870 

CHANGE IN NET ASSETS 775,388 (6,320) 769,068 395,182 

Net assets at beginning of year 

NET ASSETS AT END OF YEAR 

2,709,697 9,352 
$ 3,485,085 $ 3,032 $ 

2,719,049 
3,488,117 $ 

2,323,867 
2,719,049 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements. 
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BRONX CHARTER SCHOOL FOR BETTER LEARNING 

STATEMENT OF FUNCTIONAL EXPENSES 

YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2019 
(With Comparative Totals for 2018) 

Year ended June 30, 
2019 2018 

Program Services Supporting Services 
Management Fundraising 

No. of Regular Special and and special 
Positions Education Education Sub-total general events Sub-total Total Total 

Personnel services costs:
  Administrative staff personnel  8 $         40,653 $ 

20,327 
$ 60,980 $ 

337,424
 $   99,859 $       437,283 $  498,263 $       495,538 

  Instructional personnel         144      6,683,495 1,433,604       8,117,099
 -

-

-

       8,117,099      6,901,143 
  Non-instructional personnel  8      1,025,403    153,202 

1,178,605 

     200,619 16,440       217,059        1,395,664      1,079,856 

Total personnel services costs         160      7,749,551 1,607,133       9,356,684      538,043 116,299       654,342      10,011,026 8,476,537 

Fringe benefits and payroll taxes      2,026,438 415,819       2,442,257      135,445  29,227       164,672        2,606,929      2,120,412 
Retirement         190,300      38,562          228,862        12,143     2,615         14,758  243,620         230,300 
Legal service

 -
-

-

         6,589 -           6,589      6,589       26,997 
Accounting / audit services

 -
-

-

       31,883 -         31,883    31,883           27,272 
Other purchased / professional / consulting services         399,736      56,409          456,145   60,796     1,787         62,583  518,728         851,146 
Repairs and maintenance         132,387      26,301        158,688          7,826     1,679       9,505  168,193         163,218 
Insurance           62,843      12,883 75,726          4,186        903           5,089    80,815           66,277 
Utilities           69,688      14,192 83,880          4,530        976           5,506    89,386         117,712 
Supplies and materials         167,671      23,521       191,192          3,900        840       4,740  195,932         232,426 
Non-capitalized equipment/furnishings  7,866        1,598 9,464  507        109  616    10,080 58,416 
Staff development           78,057      15,948 94,005          5,135     1,108           6,243  100,248         131,267 
Marketing and recruitment           36,098        7,123 43,221          2,231       482           2,713    45,934     22,456 
Technology           40,392        6,512 46,904          1,685        358           2,043    48,947           32,150 
Food service           10,966        2,448 13,414  967        211           1,178    14,592           25,075 
Student services         206,748      22,110 228,858 

-
-

-

 228,858         131,599 
Office expense           84,260      17,190          101,450          5,513     1,189           6,702  108,152           96,967 
Depreciation         175,625      37,065          212,690        12,955     2,807         15,762  228,452         220,350 
Other           26,778 

5,403 

32,181          3,106 16,201         19,307 
51,488 

          65,259 

$   11,465,404 $ 2,310,217 $  13,775,621  $      837,440 $ 176,791 $    1,014,231 $ 14,789,852 $   13,095,836 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements. 
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BRONX CHARTER SCHOOL FOR BETTER LEARNING 

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 

YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2019 
(With Comparative Totals for 2018) 

Year ended June 30, 
2019 2018 

CASH FLOWS - OPERATING ACTIVITIES
  Change in net assets $ 769,068 $ 395,182 
  Adjustments to reconcile change in net assets to net cash
     provided from operating activities:
      Depreciation 228,452 220,350

 Bad debt expense - 625
      Changes in certain assets and liabilities affecting operations:
        Accounts receivable 255,313 (18,861)
        Grants and contracts receivables 4,928 513,718
        Prepaid expenses and other current assets (9,335) (36,159)
        Accounts payable and accrued expenses (71,021) (13,892)
        Accrued payroll and benefits 209,287 167,446
        Deferred revenue 23,187 13,770 

NET CASH  PROVIDED FROM 
OPERATING ACTIVITIES 1,409,879 1,242,179 

CASH FLOWS - INVESTING ACTIVITIES
  Purchases of property and equipment (100,811) (178,795)
  Purchases of certificates of deposit (5,608) (49,971)
  Change in escrow account 261 (620) 

NET CASH USED FOR 
INVESTING ACTIVITIES (106,158) (229,386) 

NET INCREASE IN CASH 
AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 1,303,721 1,012,793 

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 1,639,048 626,255 

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 
AT END OF YEAR $ 2,942,769 $ 1,639,048 

NON-CASH OPERATING AND INVESTING ACTIVITIES
  Purchases of property and equipment included in accounts payable $ 151,549 $ -

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements. 
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BRONX CHARTER SCHOOL FOR BETTER LEARNING 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2019 
(With Comparative Totals for 2018) 

NOTE A: THE SCHOOL AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

The Charter School 
Bronx Charter School for Better Learning (“the Charter School”) is an educational corporation that operates as 
a charter school in the borough of Bronx, New York. The Charter School operates two schools, Bronx Charter 
School for Better Learning (“BBL I”) and Bronx Charter School for Better Learning II (“BBL II”). On 
March 25, 2003, the Board of Regents of the University of the State of New York granted BBL I a provisional 
charter valid for a term of five years and renewable upon expiration. On May 24, 2017, BBL I obtained a five 
year charter renewal with the ability to operate through July 31, 2023. 

On July 22, 2014, the Board of Regents of the University of the State of New York amended the charter 
agreement permitting an additional school to be opened by the Charter School. During the 2015 fiscal year, the 
Charter School added BBL II under its expanded charter. BBL II has the authority to operate through July 30, 
2020. The Charter School was established to provide its students in grades K-5 with a solid foundation for 
academic success, through achievement that exceeds citywide averages and meets or exceeds New York State 
Standards and national norms in all curriculum areas tested, especially in mathematics and language arts. The 
Charter School operates a Pre-K program which is not considered a chartered grade. There is a separate 
contract between the Charter School and the New York Department of Education regarding the operation of the 
Pre-K program. 

The accompanying financial statements include the accounts of BBL I and BBL II (collectively referred to as 
the “Charter School”). All intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated in the accompanying 
financial statements. 

Classification of net assets 
To ensure observance of limitations and restrictions placed on the use of resources available to the Charter School, 
the accounts of the Charter School are maintained in accordance with the principles of accounting for not-for-
profit organizations. This is the procedure by which resources are classified for reporting purposes into net asset 
groups, established according to their nature and purpose. Accordingly, all financial transactions have been 
recorded and reported by net asset group. 

The assets, liabilities, activities, and net assets are classified based on the existence or absence of donor or grantor-
imposed restrictions.  Accordingly, net assets and changes therein are classified and reported as follows: 

Net Assets Without Donor Restrictions 
Net assets available for use in general operations and not subject to donor (or certain grantor) restrictions. 
The Board of Trustees has discretionary control to use these in carrying on operations in accordance with the 
guidelines established by the Charter School. 

Net Assets With Donor Restrictions 
Net assets subject to donor (or certain grantor) imposed restrictions. Some donor-imposed restrictions are 
temporary in nature, such as those that will be met by the passage of time or other events specified by the 
donor. Other donor-imposed restrictions are perpetual in nature, where the donor stipulates that resources be 
maintained in perpetuity. Donor-imposed restrictions are released when a restriction expires, that is, when the 
stipulated time has elapsed, when the stipulated purpose for which the resource was restricted has been 
fulfilled, or both. The Charter School had net assets with donor restrictions of $3,032 and $9,352 at June 30, 
2019 or 2018, respectively. 
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BRONX CHARTER SCHOOL FOR BETTER LEARNING 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS, Cont’d 

YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2019 
(With Comparative Totals for 2018) 

NOTE A: THE SCHOOL AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES, Cont’d 

Revenue and support recognition 
Revenue from state and local governments resulting from the Charter School’s charter status and based on the 
number of students enrolled is recorded when services are performed in accordance with the charter agreement. 

Revenue from federal, state and local government grants and contracts are recorded by the Charter School 
when qualifying expenditures are incurred and billable. 

Contributions are recognized as revenue in the year the pledge is received and documented.  A contribution that 
is received and expended in the same year for a specific purpose is classified as revenue without donor 
restrictions. 

Cash and cash equivalents 
Cash and certain money market account balances are maintained at financial institutions located in New York 
and are insured by the FDIC up to $250,000 at each institution. The Charter School considers all highly liquid 
investments with a maturity of three months or less when purchased to be cash equivalents. In the normal 
course of business, the cash and cash equivalent account balances at any given time may exceed insured limits.  
However, the Charter School has not experienced any losses in such accounts and does not believe it is exposed 
to significant risk in cash and cash equivalents. 

Certificates of deposit 
Certificates of deposit represent certificates of deposit with maturities of twelve months or less. These assets 
are carried at their original cost plus interest earned. In the normal course of business, the account balances at 
any given time may exceed insured limits.  However, the Charter School has not experienced any losses in such 
accounts and does not believe it is exposed to significant risk in certificates of deposit. 

Accounts, grants and contracts receivables 
Grants and other receivables are stated at the amount management expects to collect from outstanding balances.  
Management provides for probable uncollectible amounts based on its assessment of the current status of 
individual receivables from grants, agencies and others. Balances that are still outstanding after management has 
used reasonable collection efforts are written off against the allowance for doubtful accounts. There was no 
allowance for doubtful accounts at June 30, 2019 or 2018. 

Property and equipment 
Property and equipment are recorded at cost. Depreciation is computed using the straight-line method on a 
basis considered adequate to depreciate the assets over their estimated useful lives, which range from three to 
five years. 

Escrow account 
The Charter School segregated certain certificates of deposit to fund an escrow account in accordance with the 
terms of their charter agreement. The amount in escrow as of June 30, 2019 and 2018 was $156,129 and 
$156,390, respectively. The escrow account is restricted to fund legal and other costs should the Charter 
School cease operations and dissolve. 
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BRONX CHARTER SCHOOL FOR BETTER LEARNING 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS, Cont’d 

YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2019 
(With Comparative Totals for 2018) 

NOTE A: THE SCHOOL AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES, Cont’d 

Deferred revenue 
The Charter School records grant revenue as deferred revenue until it is expended for the purpose of the grant, 
at which time it is recognized as revenue. 

Tax exempt status 
The Charter School is a tax-exempt Charter School under section 501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code and 
applicable state regulations and, accordingly, is exempt from federal and state taxes on income. 

The Charter School files Form 990 tax returns in the U.S. federal jurisdiction. The tax returns for the years 
ended June 30, 2016 through June 30, 2019 are still subject to potential audit by the IRS. Management of the 
Charter School believes it has no material uncertain tax positions and, accordingly it will not recognize any 
liability for unrecognized tax benefits. 

In-kind donations 
Gifts and donations other than cash are recorded at fair value at the date of contribution. The Charter School did 
not receive any in-kind contributions for the years ended June 30, 2019 and 2018. 

Contributed services 
The Charter School receives contributed services from volunteers to serve on the Board of Trustees. These 
services are not valued in the financial statements because they do not require “specialized skills” and would 
typically not be purchased if they were not contributed. The Charter School received donated transportation, 
food services and special education services from the local school district. The Charter School was unable to 
determine a value for these services. In addition, the Charter School is located in New York City Department of 
Education facilities and utilizes approximately 51,200 square feet at no charge. 

Marketing and recruiting costs 
The Charter School expenses marketing and recruiting costs as they are incurred. Total marketing and 
recruiting costs approximated $46,000 and $22,000 for the years ended June 30, 2019 and 2018, respectively. 

Comparatives for year ended June 30, 2018 
The financial statements include certain prior year summarized comparative information in total but not by net 
asset class or functional classification. Such information does not include sufficient detail to constitute a 
presentation in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. 
Accordingly, such information should be read in conjunction with the Charter School’s financial statements for 
the year ended June 30, 2018, from which the summarized information was derived. 

Use of estimates in the preparation of financial statements 
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the 
United States of America requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported 
amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial 
statements and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could 
differ from those estimates. 
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BRONX CHARTER SCHOOL FOR BETTER LEARNING 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS, Cont’d 

YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2019 
(With Comparative Totals for 2018) 

NOTE A: THE SCHOOL AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES, Cont’d 

Reclassifications 
Certain prior year amounts have been reclassified to conform with the current year presentation. 

Change in accounting principle 
During August 2016 FASB issued Accounting Standards Update No. 2016-14 “Not-for-Profit Entities (Topic 
958) Presentation of Financial Statements of Not-for-Profit Entities”. The main provisions of ASU 2016-14 
require a Not-For-Profit (NFP) to: 

1) Present on the face of the statement of financial position amounts for two classes of net assets at the end of 
the period, rather than three classes. That is, an NFP will report amounts for net assets with donor 
restrictions and net assets without donor restrictions, as well as the currently required amount for total net 
assets.  

2) Present on the face of the statement of activities the amount of the change in each of the two classes of net 
assets (noted in item 1) rather than that of the required three classes as in prior years. An NFP would 
continue to report the currently required amount of the change in total net assets for the period. 

3) Continue to present on the face of the statement of cash flows the net amount for operating cash flows 
using either the direct or indirect method of reporting but no longer require the presentation or disclosure of 
the indirect method (reconciliation) if using the direct method. 

4) Provide enhanced disclosures about:  

a) Composition of net assets with donor restrictions at the end of the period and how the restrictions affect 
the use of resources. 

b) Qualitative information that communicates how a NFP manages its liquid resources available to meet 
cash needs for general expenditures within one year of the statement of financial position date. 

c) Quantitative information, and additional qualitative information, that communicates the availability of 
an NFP’s financial assets at the statement of financial position date to meet cash needs for general 
expenditures within one year of the statement of financial position date. Availability of a financial asset 
may be affected by (1) its nature, (2) external limits imposed by donors, grantors, laws, and contracts 
with others, and (3) internal limits imposed by Board of Trustee decisions. 

d) Amounts of expenses by both their natural classification and their functional classification. That 
analysis of expenses is to be provided in one location. 

e) Method(s) used to allocate costs among program and support functions. 

ASU 2016-14 is effective for financial statements beginning after December 15, 2017 and was applied 
retrospectively except for disclosures regarding liquidity and availability of resources, which are presented only 
for the current year. There was no effect on total assets or changes in net assets. The Charter School has 
adopted the amendments effective July 1, 2018. 
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BRONX CHARTER SCHOOL FOR BETTER LEARNING 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS, Cont’d 

YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2019 
(With Comparative Totals for 2018) 

NOTE A: THE SCHOOL AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES, Cont’d 

New accounting pronouncements 

Revenue from contracts with customers 
In May 2014, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued a new standard related to revenue 
recognition. Under the standard, revenue is recognized when a customer obtains control of promised goods 
or services in an amount that reflects the consideration the entity expects to receive in exchange for those 
goods or services. For nonpublic entities, the guidance in this new standard is effective for annual reporting 
periods beginning after December 15, 2018, and interim reporting periods within annual reporting periods 
beginning after December 15, 2019. The Charter School is currently evaluating the provisions of this 
standard to determine the impact the new standard will have on the Charter School’s financial position or 
results of operations. 

Leases 
In February 2016, the FASB issued a new standard related to leases to increase transparency and 
comparability among entities by requiring the recognition of right-of-use (“ROU”) assets and lease liabilities 
on the statement of financial position.  Most prominent among the changes in the standard is the recognition 
of ROU assets and lease liabilities by lessees for those leases classified as operating leases under current U.S. 
GAAP.   For nonpublic entities, the guidance in this new standard is effective for fiscal years beginning after 
December 15, 2019, and interim periods within fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2020. There has 
been an exposure draft proposed that would delay this ASU from the initial timetable and, if passed, will take 
effect for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2020, and for interim periods within fiscal years 
beginning after December 15, 2021. The Charter School is currently evaluating the provisions of this 
standard to determine the impact the new standard will have on the Charter School’s financial position or 
results of operations. 

Subsequent events 
The Charter School has conducted an evaluation of potential subsequent events occurring after the statement of 
financial position date through October 21, 2019, which is the date the financial statements are available to be 
issued. No subsequent events requiring disclosure were noted. 

NOTE B: LIQUIDITY AND AVAILABILITY 

The Charter School regularly monitors liquidity required to meet its operating needs and other contractual 
commitments. The Charter School’s main source of liquidity is its cash accounts and certificates of deposit. 

For purposes of analyzing resources available to meet general expenditures over a 12-month period, the Charter 
School considers all expenditures related to its ongoing activities of teaching, and public service as well as the 
conduct of services undertaken to support those activities to be general expenditures.  

In addition to financial assets available to meet general expenditures over the next 12 months, the Charter 
School operates with a balanced budget and anticipates collecting sufficient revenue to cover general 
expenditures not covered by donor-restricted resources. Refer to the statement of cash flows which identifies 
the sources and uses of the Charter School’s cash and shows positive cash generated by operations for fiscal 
year 2019. 
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BRONX CHARTER SCHOOL FOR BETTER LEARNING 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS, Cont’d 

YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2019 
(With Comparative Totals for 2018) 

NOTE B: LIQUIDITY AND AVAILABILITY, Cont’d 

Financial assets available for general expenditure, that is, without donor or other restrictions limiting their use, 
within one year of the statement of financial position date, comprise the following at June 30, 2019: 

Amount 

Cash and cash equivalents 
Certificates of deposit 
Accounts receivable 
Grants and other receivables 

Total financial assets available within one year 

$ 2,942,769 
1,087,957 

188,092 
229,444 

4,448,262 

Less:

  Amounts unavailable for general expenditures

    within one year, due to:

      Restricted by donors with purpose restrictions 

Total amounts unavailable for general 

expenditures within one year 

(3,032) 

(3,032) 

Total financial assets available to management 
for general expenditures within one year $ 4,445,230 

To help manage unanticipated liquidity needs, the Charter School has a committed line of credit in the amount 
of $200,000 which it could draw upon. 

NOTE C: SCHOOL FACILITY 

The Charter School has an agreement with the New York City Department of Education for dedicated and 
shared space at no charge at P.S. 111 Annex, a New York City Public School located at 3740 Baychester 
Avenue, Bronx, New York. 

The Charter School has an agreement with the New York City Department of Education for dedicated and 
shared space at no charge at MS 144, a New York City Public School located at 2545 Gunther Avenue, Bronx, 
New York. 
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BRONX CHARTER SCHOOL FOR BETTER LEARNING 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS, Cont’d 

YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2019 
(With Comparative Totals for 2018) 

NOTE D: PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT 

Property and equipment consist of the following: 

June 30, 
2019 2018 

Furniture and fixtures $ 701,591 $ 659,476 
Computer equipment 1,488,389 1,278,144 

2,189,980 1,937,620 
Less accumulated depreciation 1,745,442 1,516,990 

$ 444,538 $ 420,630 

NOTE E: LINE OF CREDIT 

The Charter School entered into a $200,000 line of credit agreement with a bank during 2013. Interest is 
payable at prime plus 75 basis points (effective rate of 6.25% at June 30, 2019). There was no outstanding 
balance at June 30, 2019 and 2018, respectively. The line is secured by a certain certificate of deposit held by 
the Charter School. 

NOTE F: OPERATING LEASES 

The Charter School leases office equipment under certain non-cancelable lease agreements expiring through 
January 2023. Lease expense was approximately $137,000 and $145,000 for the years ended June 30, 2019 
and 2018, respectively.  The future minimum payments on these agreements are as follows: 

Year ending June 30, Amount 

2020 $ 124,588 
2021  125,123 
2022  125,123 
2023  72,989 

$ 447,823 

NOTE G: RETIREMENT PLAN

The Charter School sponsors a 403(b) retirement plan (the “Plan”) for its employees. All employees of the 
Charter School are eligible to participate. The Charter School matches 100% of the employee’s contributions 
up to $2,400 per year. During the years ended June 30, 2019 and 2018, the Charter School contributed 
approximately $244,000 and $230,000, respectively, to the Plan. 
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BRONX CHARTER SCHOOL FOR BETTER LEARNING 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS, Cont’d 

YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2019 
(With Comparative Totals for 2018) 

NOTE H: CONTINGENCY 

Certain grants and contracts may be subject to audit by funding sources. Such audits might result in 
disallowance of costs submitted for reimbursement by the Charter School. Management is of the opinion that 
such disallowances, if any, will not have a material effect on the accompanying financial statements. 
Accordingly, no amounts have been provided in the accompanying financial statements for such potential 
claims. 

NOTE I: CONCENTRATIONS 

At June 30, 2019 and 2018, accounts receivable and grants and contracts receivables are comprised of the 
following: 

June 30, 
2019 2018 

New York City Department of Education 18% 46% 
Federal Government 49% 31% 
Mt. Vernon Department of Education 26% 21% 

During the years ended June 30, 2019 and 2018, approximately 94% and 91%, respectively, of total operating 
revenue and support came from per-pupil funding provided by New York State.  The per-pupil rate is set 
annually by the State based on the school district in which the Charter School’s students are located. 

NOTE J: NET ASSETS 

Net assets without donor restrictions are as follows: 

June 30, 
2019 2018 

Undesignated $ 3,040,547 $ 2,289,067 
Invested in property and equipment 444,538 420,630 

$ 3,485,085 $ 2,709,697 

Net assets with donor restrictions consisted of the following: 

June 30, 
2019 2018 

Scholarship fund $ 3,032 $ 9,352 
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BRONX CHARTER SCHOOL FOR BETTER LEARNING 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS, Cont’d 

YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2019 
(With Comparative Totals for 2018) 

NOTE K: FUNCTIONAL EXPENSES 

The financial statements report certain categories of expenses that are attributed to more than one program or 
supporting function. Therefore, expenses require allocation on a reasonable basis that is consistently applied. 
All expenses that are allocated to more than one program or supporting function are allocated on the basis of 
estimates of time and effort.  

NOTE L: RENEWAL PROCESS 

BBL II is currently in the process of renewing its charter as granted by the Board of Regents. The charter 
currently expires July 30, 2020. The renewal process includes review by the State University of New York 
Charter Schools Institute (“CSI”) of various operational and governance aspects, including fiscal health and 
internal controls, board governance, and academic performance. BBL II has submitted its application for 
renewal. Upon review of the application and results, CSI will determine if the charter should be renewed and if 
so, for how long. Successful charter renewals can range from one to five years. At this time, management of 
BBL II expects the charter to be renewed. 
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BRONX CHARTER SCHOOL FOR BETTER LEARNING 

OTHER FINANCIAL INFORMATION 



 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

   
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 

  
       

    
        
   

      
      

   
   

    
      

 
 

 
 
 

 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT ON OTHER FINANCIAL INFORMATION 

Board of Trustees 
Bronx Charter School for Better Learning 

We have audited the financial statements of Bronx Charter School for Better Learning as of and for the year ended 
June 30, 2019, and have issued our report thereon dated October 21, 2019, which contained an unmodified opinion 
on those financial statements. Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming an opinion on the financial 
statements as a whole. The financial information hereinafter is presented for purposes of additional analysis and is not 
a required part of the financial statements. Such information is the responsibility of management and was derived from 
and relates directly to the underlying accounting and other records used  to prepare the financial  statements.  The  
information has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the financial statements and certain 
additional procedures, including comparing and reconciling such information directly to the underlying accounting 
and other records used to prepare the financial statements or to the financial statements themselves, and other 
additional procedures in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America. In our 
opinion, the information is fairly stated in all material respects in relation to the financial statements for the year ended 
June 30, 2019, as a whole. 

Rochester, New York 
October 21, 2019 
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BRONX CHARTER SCHOOL FOR BETTER LEARNING 

STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES AND CHANGES IN NET ASSETS BY CHARTER 

YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2019 

Bronx Charter Bronx Charter 
School for School for 

Better Better 
Learning I Learning II Eliminations Total 

Revenue, gains, and other support:
  Public school district

 Resident student enrollment $ 8,634,041 $ 4,676,780 $ - $ 13,310,821
 Students with disabilities 699,003 379,767 - 1,078,770

  Grants and contracts
 State and local 195,977 13,592 - 209,569
 Federal - Title and IDEA 404,550 201,436 - 605,986
 Federal - other 149,695 23,328  - 173,023 

TOTAL REVENUE, GAINS 
AND OTHER SUPPORT 10,083,266 5,294,903 - 15,378,169 

Expenses:
  Program services:

 Regular education 8,112,748 3,352,656 - 11,465,404
 Special education 1,507,103 803,114  - 2,310,217

  Total program services 9,619,851 4,155,770 - 13,775,621
  Management and general 459,477 377,963 - 837,440
  Fundraising and special events 96,219 80,572  - 176,791 

TOTAL OPERATING EXPENSES 10,175,547 4,614,305  - 14,789,852 

(DEFICIT) / SURPLUS FROM 
SCHOOL OPERATIONS (92,281) 680,598 - 588,317 

Support and other revenue:
 Contributions

 Foundations 72,625 7,000 - 79,625
 Individuals 77,969 1,390 - 79,359

 Fundraising 10,810 450 - 11,260
 Interest income 7,127 - - 7,127
 Miscellaneous income 3,380  - - 3,380  

TOTAL SUPPORT AND OTHER REVENUE 171,911 8,840  - 180,751 

CHANGE IN NET ASSETS 79,630 689,438 - 769,068 

Net assets at beginning of year 1,342,630 1,376,419  - 2,719,049 

NET ASSETS AT END OF YEAR $ 1,422,260 $ 2,065,857 $ - $ 3,488,117 
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BRONX CHARTER SCHOOL FOR BETTER LEARNING 

STATEMENT OF FUNCTIONAL EXPENSES – BRONX CHARTER SCHOOL FOR BETTER LEARNING I 

YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2019 

Year ended June 30, 2019 
Program Services Supporting Services 

Management Fundraising 
No. of Regular Special and and special 

Positions Education Education Sub-total general events Sub-total Total 
Personnel services costs:
  Administrative staff personnel

 4 

$ 21,342 $ 10,671 $ 
32,013 

$ 177,143 $ 50,133 $ 227,276 $ 259,289 
  Instructional personnel

 95 
4,665,566 

909,320 

5,574,886 

- -

5,574,886 Non-instructional personnel

 4 
644,945 94,903 739,848 85,450 5,615 91,065 830,913 

Total personnel services costs

 103 5,331,853 
     1,014,894 

6,346,747 
262,593 55,748 318,341 

6,665,088 
Fringe benefits and payroll taxes

 1,475,374 
280,831 

1,756,205 
72,662 15,426 88,088 

1,844,293 Retirement

 147,458 
28,068 175,526 

            7,262 

1,542 8,804 
184,330 

Legal service

 -
- 6,589 

-

6,589 6,589 

Accounting / audit services

 - - -

20,836 

-

20,836 20,836 

Other purchased / professional / consulting services

 348,965 
49,593 398,558  59,456 

1,633 61,089 459,647 
Repairs and maintenance

 112,203 
21,357 

        133,560 

5,526 1,173 6,699 

140,259 Insurance

 45,977 
8,751 

          54,728 

2,264 
481 

            2,745 

57,473 

Utilities 52,711 

10,033 

          62,744 

2,596 
551 

            3,147 

65,891 

Supplies and materials

 121,055 
16,540 

        137,595 

2,294 
487 

2,781 

140,376 Non-capitalized equipment/furnishings

 6,016 1,145 7,161 
296 

63 359 

            7,520 
Staff development

 58,103 11,060 69,163 2,862 

608 
3,470 

72,633 
Marketing and recruitment

 24,987 
4,594 29,581 1,139 

242 
1,381 

30,962 
Technology

 34,214 
6,512 40,726 

1,685 

358 
2,043 42,769 

Food service

 4,352 
828 

5,180 

214 45 

259 

5,439 

Student services

 156,071 
16,083 

        172,154 

- -

-

172,154 
Office expense

 63,176 12,025 75,201 

3,111 

661 
3,772 78,973 

Depreciation

 109,045 
20,756 129,801 

            5,370 

1 140 6,510 
136,311 

Other

 21,188 
4,033 25,221 2,722 16,061 18,783 44,004 

$ 8,112,748 $ 1,507,103 $ 9,619,851 $ 459,477 $ 96,219 $ 555,696 $10 175 547 
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BRONX CHARTER SCHOOL FOR BETTER LEARNING 

STATEMENT OF FUNCTIONAL EXPENSES – BRONX CHARTER SCHOOL FOR BETTER LEARNING II 

YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2019 

Year ended June 30, 2019 
Program Services Supporting Services 

Management Fundraising 
No. of Regular Special and and special 

Positions Education Education Sub-total general events Sub-total Total 
Personnel services costs:
  Administrative staff personnel

 4 

$ 19,311 $ 9,656 $ 28,967 $ 160,281 $ 49,726 $ 210,007 $ 238,974 
  Instructional personnel

 49 
2,017,929 

524,284 

2,542,213 -
- - 2,542,213   Non-instructional personnel

 4 
380,458 58,299 438,757 115,169 10,825 125,994 564,751 

Total personnel services costs

 57 

2,417,698 
592,239 

3,009,937 
275,450           60,551 

336,001 
3,345,938 

Fringe benefits and payroll taxes

 551,064 134,988 686,052  62,783 13,801 76,584 762,636 
Retirement

 42,842 10,494 53,336 4,881 1,073 

5,954           59,290 
Accounting / audit services

 - -

-

11,047 

-

11,047 11,047 

Other purchased / professional / consulting services

 50,771 
6,816 

          57,587 

1,340 

154 1,494 

59,081 

Repairs and maintenance

 20,184 
4,944 

25,128 

2,300 

506 2,806

 27,934 
Insurance

 16,866 
4,132 

          20,998 

1,922 

422 2,344 

23,342 

Utilities  16,977 

4,159 

          21,136 

1,934 

425 2,359 

23,495 

Supplies and materials

 46,616 
6,981 

53,597 

1,606 

353 1,959 

55,556 
Non-capitalized equipment/furnishings

 1,850 
453 

2,303 
211 

46 257 
2,560 

Staff development

 19,954 
4,888 24,842 2,273 

500 2,773 

27,615 
Marketing and recruitment

 11,111 
2,529 

13,640 

1,092 

240 1,332 

14,972 

Technology

 6,178 

-

6,178 

-
- -

6,178 
Food service

 6,614 1,620 

8,234 

753 

166 919 9,153 
Student services

 50,677 
6,027 

          56,704 -
- -

56,704 

Office expense

 21,084 
5,165 26,249 

2,402 
528 2,930           29,179 

Depreciation

 66,580 16,309 82,889 7,585 
1,667 

9,252           92,141 
Other

 5,590 1,370 6,960 
384 

140 524 7,484 

$ 3,352,656 $ 803,114 $ 4,155,770 $ 377,963 $ 80,572 $ 458,535 $ 4,614,305 
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BRONX CHARTER SCHOOL FOR BETTER LEARNING 

REPORT REQUIRED BY GOVERNMENT AUDITING STANDARDS 



 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 

 
   

 
 

    
    

  
 

 
      

    

   
 

 
     

     
      

   
     

 

 
 

 

    
 

 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING AND 
ON COMPLIANCE AND OTHER MATTERS BASED ON AN AUDIT OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

PERFORMED IN ACCORDANCE WITH GOVERNMENT AUDITING STANDARDS 

Board of Trustees 
Bronx Charter School for Better Learning 

We have audited in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America and the 
standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller 
General of the United States, the financial statements of Bronx Charter School for Better Learning, which comprise 
the statement of financial position as of June 30, 2019, and the related statements of activities and changes in net 
assets, functional expenses, and cash flows for the year then ended, and the related notes to the financial statements 
and have issued our report thereon dated October 21, 2019. 

Internal Control over Financial Reporting 

In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered Bronx Charter School for Better 
Learning’s internal control over financial reporting (internal control) to determine the audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinion on the financial statements, but not for 
the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of Bronx Charter School for Better Learning’s internal 
control. Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of Bronx Charter School for Better 
Learning’s internal control. 

A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow management or 
employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or detect and correct 
misstatements on a timely basis. A material weakness is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal 
control, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of the entity’s financial statements 
will not be prevented or detected and corrected on a timely basis.  A significant deficiency is a deficiency, or a 
combination of deficiencies, in internal control that is less severe than a material weakness, yet important enough to 
merit attention by those charged with governance.   

Our consideration of internal control over financial reporting was for the limited purpose described in the first 
paragraph of this section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control over financial reporting 
that might be material weaknesses or significant deficiencies. Given these limitations, during our audit we did not 
identify any deficiencies in internal control that we consider to be material weaknesses. However, material 
weaknesses may exist that have not been identified. 
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Compliance and Other Matters 

As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether Bronx Charter School for Better Learning’s financial 
statements are free from material misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions of 
laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements, noncompliance with which could have a direct and material 
effect on the determination of financial statement amounts. However, providing an opinion on compliance with 
those provisions was not an objective of our audit and, accordingly, we do not express such an opinion. The results 
of our tests disclosed no instances of noncompliance or other matters that are required to be reported under 
Government Auditing Standards. 

Purpose of This Report 

The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and compliance and the 
results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control or on 
compliance. This report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing 
Standards in considering the entity’s internal control and compliance. Accordingly, this communication is not 
suitable for any other purpose. 

Rochester, New York 
October 21, 2019 
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Transmittal Form 
Annual Financial Statement Audit Report 

for SUNY Authorized Charter Schools 

Charter School Name: Bronx Charter School for Better Learning II 

Audit Period: 2018-19 
Prior Period: 2017-18 

Report Due Date: Friday, November 01, 2019 
Date Submitted: Wednesday, October 30, 2019 

School Fiscal Contact Name: Nicole Tennant 
School Fiscal Contact Email: 
School Fiscal Contact Phone: 

School Audit Firm Name: Mengel Metzger Barr & Co. LLP 
School Audit Contact Name: Michelle Cain 
School Audit Contact Email: 
School Audit Contact Phone: 

Please submit the Annual Financial Statement and other associated documents 
to BOTH 

SUNY Charter Schools Institute 
AND 

New York State Education Department 

SUNY CHARTER SCHOOLS INSTITUTE - Reporting Requirements: 
Online Portal: https://my.epicenternow.org/home.aspx 

Required 8 Items: 
1) The independent auditor’s report on financial statements and notes; 
2) Excel template file with appropriate sheets completed: Financial Position, Statement of Activities, Cash Flow and 

Functional Expenses worksheets; and 
3) Reports on internal controls over financial reporting and on compliance. 

And, if applicable: 
The additional items listed below should be included if applicable. Please explain the reason(s) if the items are not 
included. 
Examples might include: a written management letter was not issued; the school did not expend federal funds in 
excess of the Single Audit Threshold of $750,000; the management letter response will be submitted by the following 
date (should be no later than 30 days from the submission of the report); etc  If not applicable enter "N/A "

4) 

5) 

6) 

7) 

If not included, state the reason(s) below. Or, if not applicable fill in"N/A"): 

Management Letter 

Management Letter Response 

Form 990; or Extension Form 8868 
Federal Single Audit/ Uniform 
Guidance in 2 CFR Part 200  



   

       
 

 
                                     

     
  

       
                   

         
 

8) Corrective Action Plan 

7) Guidance in 2 CFR Part 200, 
Subpart F 

NEW YORK STATE EDUCATION DEPARTMENT - Reporting Requirements: 
Online Portal: https://nysed-cso-reports.myreviewroom.com/ 

Required Items: 
1) This transmital form (a copy of the Excel file containing the four schedules Does NOT need to be included); 
2) Audited Financial Report; 

And, if applicable: 
3) Management Letter and Response; 
4) Federal Single Audit/Uniform Guidance in 2 CFR Part 200, Subpart F. 



      
   

    

 
     
     

   
 

     
  

    

 

 

   

 
       
     
 

       
           
 

 

 
 

                  

 

 

 

  

BRONX CHARTER SCHOOL FOR BETTER LEARNING II 
Statement of Financial Position 

as of June 30, 2019 

ASSETS 2018-19 2017-18 

CURRENT ASSETS 
Cash and cash equivalents 
Grants and contracts receivable 
Accounts receivables 
Prepaid expenses 

Contributions and other receivables 
TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS 

PROPERTY, BUILDING AND EQUIPMENT, net 

OTHER ASSETS 

TOTAL ASSETS 

LIABILITIES AND NET ASSETS 

CURRENT LIABILITIES 
Accounts payable and accrued expenses 
Accrued payroll and benefits 
Deferred Revenue 
Current maturities of long-term debt 
Short Term Debt - Bonds, Notes Payable 

Other 
TOTAL CURRENT 

 

LONG-TERM LIABILITIES 
Deferred Rent 
All other long-term debt and notes payable, net current maturities TO AL LONG-TE  

LIABILITIES 

TOTAL LIABILITIES 

NET ASSETS 
Unrestricted 

Temporarily restricted 

TOTAL NET ASSETS 

$ - $ -
- -
- -
- -

- -

- -

- -

- -

$ - $ -
- -
- -
- -
- -
- -
- -

- -
- -
- -

- -

- -
- -

- -



  
 

       

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND 
NET ASSETS - -

CK - Should be zero - -



      
  

    

    
   

   
   

   
   

       
   

     
     

     

 
 
 

 
   

   

  

     

   

 
 

       
    

BRONX CHARTER SCHOOL FOR BETTER LEARNING II 
Statement of Activities 

as of June 30, 2019 

Unrestricted 

2018-19 
Temporarily 
Restricted Total 

2017-18 

Total 

REVENUE, GAINS AND OTHER SUPPORT 
Public School District 

Resident Student Enrollment 
Students with disabilities 

Grants and Contracts 
State and local 
Federal - Title and IDEA 
Federal - Other 
Other 

NYC DoE Rental Assistance 

Food Service/Child Nutrition Program 

TOTAL REVENUE, GAINS AND OTHER SUPPORT 

EXPENSES 
Program Services 

Regular Education 
Special Education 
Other Programs 

Total Program Services 
Management and general 
Fundraising 

TOTAL OPERATING EXPENSES 

SURPLUS / (DEFICIT) FROM SCHOOL OPERATIONS 

SUPPORT AND OTHER REVENUE 
Contributions 

Foundations 
Individuals 
Corporations 

Fundraising 
Interest income 
Miscellaneous income 

Net assets released from restriction 
TOTAL SUPPORT AND OTHER REVENUE 

$ 4,676,780 
379,767 

13,592 
201,436 
23,328 

-
-
-

5,294,903 

$ 3,352,656 
803,114 

-
4,155,770 
377,963 

80,572 
4,614,305 

680,598 

$ 7,000 
1,390 

-
450 

-
-
-

8,840 

$ 

$ 

$ 

-

-
-
-
-
-
-

-
-
-
-
-
-
-

-

-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-

$ 

$ 

$ 

4,676,780 
379,767 

13,592 
201,436 
23,328 

-
-
-

5,294,903 

3,352,656 
803,114 

-
4,155,770 
377,963 

80,572 
4,614,305 

680,598 

7,000 
1,390 

-
450 

-
-
-

8,840 

$ 

$ 

$ 

3,342,443 
181,831 

20,197 
174,000 
37,146 

-
-
-

3,755,617 

2,606,181 
508,759 

-
3,114,940 
318,263 

72,883 
3,506,086 

249,531 

9,000 
787 

-
18,829 

-
2,569 

-
31,185 



   

       
   

    

CHANGE IN NET ASSETS 689,438 - 689,438 280,716 

NET ASSETS BEGINNING OF YEAR 

PRIOR YEAR/PERIOD ADJUSTMENTS 

1,376,419 

-
-
-

1,376,419 

-
1,095,703 

-

NET ASSETS END OF YEAR $ 2,065,857 $ - $ 2,065,857 $ 1,376,419 



      
   

    

    
       
       
 

     

 
   
 
 
 
 
 

     
 

 
 

   

     

    
   

     

    
       

     

       
       

       

$ - $ -
- -
- -
- -
- -
- -
- -
- -
- -
- -
- -
- -
- -
- -
- -
- -
- -
- -

BRONX CHARTER SCHOOL FOR BETTER LEARNING II 
Statement of Cash Flows 

as of June 30, 2019 

2018-19 2017-18 

CASH FLOWS - OPERATING ACTIVITIES 
Increase (decrease) in net assets 
Revenues from School Districts 
Accounts Receivable 
Due from School Districts 
Depreciation 
Grants Receivable 
Due from NYS 
Grant revenues 
Prepaid Expenses 
Accounts Payable 
Accrued Expenses 
Accrued Liabilities 
Contributions and fund-raising activities 
Miscellaneous sources 
Deferred Revenue 
Interest payments 
Bad Debt expense 
Other 

NET CASH PROVIDED FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES $ - $ -

CASH FLOWS - INVESTING ACTIVITIES 
Purchase of equipment 
Other 

- -
- -

NET CASH PROVIDED FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES $ - $ -

CASH FLOWS - FINANCING ACTIVITIES 
Principal payments on long-term debt 
Other 

- -
- -

NET CASH PROVIDED FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES $ - $ -

$ -NET (DECREASE) INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS $ -
Cash at beginning of year - -

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF YEAR $ - $ -



      
   
    

   
 

 
                 

   
 

 
     

       

   
 

     
           
                 
   

   
   

 
    

   
 

 

 

BRONX CHARTER SCHOOL FOR BETTER LEARNING II 
Statement of Functional Expenses 

as of June 30, 2019 

2018-19 

No. of Regular
Positions Education 

Personnel Services Costs $ 
Administrative Staff Personnel 4.00 19,311 
Instructional Personnel 49.00 2,017,929 
Non-Instructional Personnel 4.00 380,458 
Total Salaries and Staff 57.00 2,417,698 

Fringe Benefits & Payroll Taxes 551,064 
Retirement 42,842 
Management Company Fees -
Legal Service -
Accounting / Audit Services -
Other Purchased / Professional / Consulting Services 50,771 
Building and Land Rent / Lease / Facility Finance Interes  -
Repairs & Maintenance 20,184 
Insurance 16,866 
Utilities 16,977 
Supplies / Materials 46,616 
Equipment / Furnishings 1,850 
Staff Development 19,954 
Marketing / Recruitment 11,111 
Technology 6,178 
Food Service 6,614 
Student Services 50,677 
Office Expense 21,084 
Depreciation 66,580 

OTHER 5,590 

Program Services 
Special Other 

Education Education 
$ $ 

9,656 -
524,284 -
58,299 -

592,239 -
134,988 -
10,494 -

- -
- -
- -

6,816 -
- -

4,944 -
4,132 -
4,159 -
6,981 -
453 -

4,888 -
2,529 -

- -
1,620 -
6,027 -
5,165 -

16,309 -
1,370 -

$ 
Total 

28,967 
2,542,213 
438,757 

3,009,937 
686,052 
53,336 

-
-
-

57,587 
-

25,128 
20,998 
21,136 
53,597 
2,303 

24,842 
13,640 
6,178 
8,234 

56,704 
26,249 
82,889 
6,960 

Supporting Services 
Management 

Fund-raising and General 
$ $ $ 

49,726 160,281 
- -

10,825 115,169 
60,551 275,450 
13,801 62,783 
1,073 

-
- -
- 11,047 

154 1,340 
- -

506 2,300 
422 1,922 
425 1,934 
353 1,606 
46 211 

500 2,273 
240 1,092 

- -
166 753 

- -
528 2,402 

1,667 7,585 
140 384 

Total 

210,007 
-

125,994 
336,001 
76,584 
5,954 

-
-

11,047 
1,494 

-
2,806 
2,344 
2,359 
1,959 
257 

2,773 
1,332 

-
919 

-
2,930 
9,252 
524 

Total Expenses $ 3,352,656 $ 803,114 $ - $ 4,155,770 $ 80,572 $ 377,963 $ 458,535 

4,881 



   

2017-18

$ 
Total 

238,974 
2,542,213 
564,751 

3,345,938 
762,636 
59,290 

$ 
210,535 

1,872,863 
419,566 

2,502,964 
493,076 
37,500 

-
- -

11,047 7,212 
59,081 124,976 

-
27,934 20,819 
23,342 19,209 
23,495 38,762 
55,556 56,781 
2,560 -

27,615 33,167 
14,972 15,385 
6,178 2,800 
9,153 7,234 

56,704 24,143 
29,179 22,779 
92,141 81,134 
7,484 18,145 

$ 4,614,305 $ 3,506,086 







      
          

Charter Funding Alphabetical By NYS School District 
* (Sum of Charter School Basic Tuition and Supplemental Basic Tuition) 
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ANNUAL BUDGET & QUARTERLY REPORT TEMPLATE 

Bronx Charter School for Better Learning II 

SCHOOL 
Name: Bronx Charter School for Better Learning II 

CONTACT INFORMATION 
Contact Name: Kevin Brennan 
Contact Title: Executive Director 
Contact Email: 
Contact Phone: 

REPORT PERIOD 
Current Academic Year: 2018-19 
Prior Academic Year: 2017-18 
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PRIOR YEAR ANNUAL BUDGET 
2017-18 QUARTER 1 QUARTER 2  QUARTER 3 QUAR  

PRIMARY/OTHER DISTRICT NAME(S) 
Actual 

Enrollment 

Original 
Budgeted 
Enrollment 

Revised 
Budgeted 
Enrollment 

Original 
Budgeted 
Enrollment 

Revised 
Budgeted 
Enrollment 

Original 
Budgeted 
Enrollment 

Revised 
Budgeted 
Enrollment 

Original 
Budgeted 
Enrollment 

Page 6 of 64 



 
 

    

   
    

 

 
  

 

8 9 10 11 12 

D' Column(s) 
for the 

ACTUAL QUARTERLY 
TOTAL DISTRICTS/ENROLLMENT 

TER 4 QUARTER 1 QUARTER 2 QUARTER 3 QUARTER 4 
Revised Actual Actual Actual Actual 

0 1 1 2 2 
0 289.1 294.6 296.675 296.675 

s 

ACTUAL ENROLLMENT BY QUARTER 
TER 4 QUARTER 1 QUARTER 2 QUARTER 3 QUARTER 4 

Revised 
Budgeted Actual Actual Actual Actual 
Enrollment Enrollment Enrollment Enrollment Enrollment 

289.1 294.6 295.675 295.675 
1 1 
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     TER 4 

Revised 
Budgeted 
Enrollment 

ACTUAL ENROLLMENT BY QUARTER 
QUARTER 1 QUARTER 2 QUARTER 3 QUARTER 4 

Actual 
Enrollment 

Actual 
Enrollment 

Actual 
Enrollment 

Actual 
Enrollment 
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- - - -

- - - -

- - - -

-
-

- - - - -
- - - - -
- - - - -
- - - - -
- - - - -

- - - - -
- - - - -
- - - - -
- - - - -
- - - - -
- - - - -

- - - -
- - - -

BRONX CHARTER SCHOOL FOR BETTER LEARNING II 
BALANCE SHEET 

2018-19 

#N/A 
Prior Year Q1 Q2 

2017-18 As of 9/30 As of 12/31 
ASSETS 

CURRENT ASSETS 
Cash and cash equivalents 
Grants and contracts receivable 
Accounts receivables 
Prepaid Expenses 

Contributions and other receivables 
TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS - - -

PROPERTY, BUILDING AND EQUIPMENT, net -

OTHER ASSETS -

TOTAL ASSETS - - -

LIABILITIES AND NET ASSETS 

CURRENT LIABILITIES 
Accounts payable and accrued expenses 
Accrued payroll and benefits 
Deferred Revenue 
Current maturities of long-term debt 
Short Term Debt - Bonds, Notes Payable 

Other 
TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES - - -

LONG-TERM DEBT and NOTES PAYABLE, net current maturities -

TOTAL LIABILITIES - - -

NET ASSETS 
Unrestricted 

Temporarily restricted 

TOTAL NET ASSETS - - -

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND NET ASSETS - - -

Q3 

As of 3/31 

-

-

-

-

-

-

Q4 

As of 6/30 

-

-

-

-

-

-
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Annual Report Requirement 
for SUNY Authorized Charter Schools 

BRONX CHARTER SCHOOL FOR BETTER LEARNING II 
2018-19 

Administrative $0.00expenditures per pupil: 

Per NYS Statute Administrative expenditures per pupil: the sum of all 
general administration salaries and other general 
administration expenditures divided by the total 
number of enrolled students. Employee benefit 
costs or expenditures should not be reported here. 

*NOTE: THIS TAB ONLY NEEDS TO BE COMPLETED FOR Q4 
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Entry 8 BOT Table 
Last updated: 07/24/2019 

1. SUNY AUTHORIZED charter schools are required to provide information for VOTING Trustees only. 
2. REGENTS, NYCDOE, and BUFFALO BOE AUTHORIZED charter schools are required to provide 

information for all VOTING and NON VOTING trustees. 

1. Current Board Member Information (Enter info for each BOT member) 

1 

2 

3 

4 

Trustee 
Name 
and 
Email 
Address 

Robert 
Bata 

William 
Bernhard 
t 

Dean 
Thomas 

Marilyn
Maye 

Neal 
Myerberg

Position 
on the 
Board 

Trustee/M
ember 

Secretary 

Trustee/M
ember 

Treasurer 

Trustee/M 

Committ 
ee 
Affiliation 
s 

Fundraisi 
ng/Devel 
opment
Policy/Go 
vernance 
Strategic
Planning 

Teacher 
Employm 
ent 
Complain 
t 
Educatio 
n 

Policy/Go 
vernance 
Fundraisi 
ng/Audit 

Finance/A
udit 
Educatio 
n 
Strategic
Planning
Teacher 
Employm 
ent 

Fundraisi 
ng/Devel 
opment 

Voting
Member 
Per By
Laws 
(Y/N) 

Yes 

Yes 

Yes 

Yes 

Yes 

Number 
of Terms 
Served 

3 

6 

1 

6 

2 

Start 
Date of 
Current 
Term 
(MM/DD/Y
YYY) 

07/01/20
17 

07/01/20
17 

07/01/20
17 

07/01/20
17 

07/01/20 

End Date 
of 
Current 
Term 
(MM/DD/Y
YYY) 

06/30/20
20 

06/30/20
20 

06/30/20
20 

06/30/20
20 

06/30/20 

Board 
Meetings
Attended 
During
2018 19 

8 

8 

9 

8 

9 
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6 7 

9 

ember Strategic
Planning 

18 21 

Victor 
Zimmerm 
ann Trustee/M

ember 

Complain
t Review 
Fundraisi 07/01/20 06/30/20ng/Devel Yes 2 18 21 opment
Finance/
Audit 

Jem Fundraisi Pagan Trustee/M 07/01/20 06/30/207 ng/Devel Yes 1 7ember 18 21 opment 

Marlon 

8 
Henry Parent 

Rep 

Kimberly
Kelly Chair 

Complain
t Review 
Teacher 07/01/20 06/30/20
Employm Yes 1 16 22 
ent 
Educatio 
n 

Complain
t Review 
Policy/Go 
vernance 
Strategic 7/01/201 06/30/20Planning Yes 6 6 22 Finance/A
udit 
Teacher 
Employe 
nt 

1a. Are there more than 9 Yes 

members of the Board of 
Trustees? 
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1b. Current Board Member Information 

Trustee 
Name 
and 
Email 
Address 

Position 
on the 
Board 

Committ 
ee 
Affiliation 
s 

Voting
Member 

Number 
of Terms 

Start 
Date of 

End Date 
of 

Per By
Laws 

Served Current 
Term 

Current 
Term 

(Y/N) (MM/DD/Y
YYY) 

(MM/DD/Y
YYY) 

Board 
Meetings
Attended 
During
2018 19 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

Marvin 
Waldman 

Vice 
Chair 

1c. Are there more that 15 

members of the Board of 
Trustees? 

Fundraisi 
ng/Devel 
opment 07/01/20 06/30/20Policy/Go Yes 6 10 16 22 vernance 
Strategic
Planning 

No 

2. INFORMATION ABOUT MEMBERS OF THE BOARD OF TRUSTEES 

1. SUNY-AUTHORIZED charter schools provide response relative to VOTING Trustees only. 
2. REGENTS, NYCDOE, and BUFFALO BOE-AUTHORIZED charter schools provide a response 

relative to all trustees. 

a. Total Number of BOT Members on 
June 30, 2019 

b.Total Number of Members Added 
During 2018 19 

c. Total Number of Members who 
Departed during 2018 19 

d.Total Number of members in 2018 19, 
as set by in Bylaws, Resolution or
Minutes 

10 

2 

0 

13 

3 / 4 



	 	

	 	 	 	
	 	

	 	 	 	
	 	

	

3. Number of Board meetings 11 

held during 2018-19 

4. Number of Board meetings 11 

scheduled for 2019-20 

Thank you. 
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Entry 10 Enrollment and Retention of Special 
Populations 
Created: 07/24/2019 • Last updated: 07/25/2019 

Instructions for Reporting Enrollment and Retention Strategies 
Describe the efforts the charter school has made in 2018 19 toward meeting targets to attract and retain 

enrollment of students with disabilities, English language learners/Multilingual learners, and students who 

are economically disadvantaged. In addition, describe the school’s plans for meeting or making progress 
toward meeting its enrollment and retention targets in 2019 20. 

BRONX CHARTER SCHOOL FOR BETTER LEARNING IISection Heading 

1 / 3 



	 	

	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	
	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	
	 	

	 	 	 	 	
	
	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	
	 	 	 	

	 	
	 	 	 	

	 	
	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	

	

	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	
	 	 	

Recruitment/Attraction Efforts Toward Meeting Targets 

Describe Recruitment Efforts in 2018 19 Describe Recruitment Plans in 2019 20 

This year, we reached out to Bronx Bethany
Church members to hand out applications to
their members. The Bronx Bethany Church
hosts a summer camp that accepts
government vouchers, and as in years past,
we've disseminated information about us Econom this past summer and spring. We alsoically continued our initiative by havingDisadva information sessions in local day carentaged centers and preschools, whose population is
predominantly economically disadvantaged,
to establish and maintain a relationship with
the parents and staff of these centers and
expand the community's awareness of our
school. 

We continued our recruitment of ELL 
students by:

English hosting information sessions in community
Langua centers, churches, and UPKs in targeted
ge neighborhoods in the Bronx
Learner distributing flyers through local businesses
s/Multili and apartment houses
ngual distributing flyers through local businesses
Learner and apartment houses
s We also provided our application in Spanish,

which is the alternative language of the
community. 

We make a clear statement in all 
communications sent to families that all 
students are encouraged to apply for the
enrollment lottery, including students
currently on or being evaluated for IEPs.
During our outreach, we explain to potential
parents the systems we have in place toStudent guarantee their child is going to receive thes with full services required by their IEPs. ThisDisabilit includes, but is not limited to, learningies specialists, outside providers for speech and
occupational therapy, and small group
instruction. We also offer opportunities for
potential parents to speak with our Director
of Support Services to provide an
understanding of how services will be
provided for their student. 

We will continue our recruitment outreach 
plan, as done this year. Additionally, we
expanded our recruitment team thus
expanding our outreach to new
neighborhoods. Furthermore, we will partner
with afterschool programs that have free or
reduced rates to continue our engagement
with the local community and encourage new
families from economically disadvantaged
households to apply. 

We will continue our recruitment outreach 
plan, as done this year. Additionally, we have
expanded our recruitment committee to
include more multilingual members to help
expand our outreach and encourage more
English Language Learners and Multilingual
families to apply to our school. 

We will continue our recruitment outreach 
plan, as done this year. Additionally, we will
partner with the Committee on Special
Education to inform current and prospective
families of students with disabilities about 
the services we offer that meet the needs of 
all students. We will continue to 
communicate that our school is an inclusive 
environment that meets the needs of all our 
students, including those with Individual
Education Plans and we welcome students 
with many types of learning needs. Finally,
our instruction remains rooted in the 
philosophy that all students already come
with everything they need in order to learn
and this message continues to be spread in
our communication with prospective parents
of students with disabilities. 

2 / 3 



	 	

	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	
	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	
	 	 	 	

	 	 	
	 	 	 	

	 	

	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	

	 	 	 	
	

	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	 	
	

	

	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	

Retention Efforts Toward Meeting Targets 

Describe Retention Efforts in 2018 19 Describe Retention Plans in 2019 20 

Econom 
ically
Disadva 
ntaged 

English
Langua 
ge
Learner 
s/Multili
ngual
Learner 
s 

Student 
s with 
Disabilit 
ies 

We offered a comprehensive Student
Support program, which is staffed to provide
services for the needs of our student 
population (e.g. guidance counselors,
behavior consultants). We maintained a
small school environment with a "warm/strict
school culture that offers students explicit
instruction in positive character
development, and clear and consistent
behavioral expectations. We maintained
frequent communication with parents about
their child's development. 

We have appointed an ELL coordinator to
ensure that the needs of all ELL students are 
met. 
We ensured the academic needs of ELL 
students are met with support from our
Academic Leaders and ELL teacher. 
We ensured that in addition to ELL 
requirements, ELL students received
adequate academic support from their
classroom teachers. 
We continued to provide parents/guardians
of ELL students avenues to provide feedback
and express concerns through our
conferences and Annual Parent Survey. 

Our school continues to develop strategies to
meet the needs of its special education
students. The guidance department has
expanded in order to provide social and
emotional support to students with
behavioral challenges. In addition, we
continue to partner with the community
agencies that provide related services to our
students. 
This school continued to engage parents in
understanding their student's IEPs and
advocate on their behalf. IEP meetings were
held on a yearly basis and we continued to
meet the needs of all students with IEPs. 

Our retention rate of economically
disadvantaged students continues to remain
in good standing and therefore we will
continue our retention efforts, as done this 
year. 

Our retention rate of ELL students continues 
to remain in good standing and therefore we
will continue our retention efforts, as done 
this year. 

Our retention rate of students with 
disabilities continues to remain in good
standing and therefore we will continue our
retention efforts, as done this year. 

3 / 3 



	 	

	 	 	 	 	

	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	

	 	 	 	

	
	

	

	
	

	
	

	
	 	

	
	

	 	
	 	

	

	

	 	 	 	

	 	
	

	
	

	

	 	
	

	

	

Entry 11 Classroom Teacher and Administrator 

Attrition 
Last updated: 07/24/2019 

Report changes in teacher and administrator staffing. 

Instructions for completing the Classroom Teacher and Administrator Attrition Tables 

Charter schools must complete the tables titled 2018-2019 Classroom Teacher and 

Administrator Attrition to report changes in teacher and administrator staffing 

during the 2018-2019 school year. Please provide the full time equivalent (FTE) of 

staff on June 30, 2018; the FTE for any departed staff from July 1, 2018 through June 

30, 2019; the FTE for added staff from July 1, 2018 through June 30, 2019; and the 

FTE of staff added in newly created positions from July 1, 2018 through June 30, 2019 

using the tables provided. 

1. Classroom Teacher Attrition Table 

FTE Classroom FTE Classroom FTE Classroom 
Teachers on 
6/30/18 

Teachers 
Departed 7/1/18
 6/30/19 

Teachers Filling
Vacant Positions 
7/1/18  6/30/19 

14 7 7 

2. Administrator Position Attrition Table 

FTE 
Administrative 
Positions on 
6/30/18 

2 

FTE 
Administrators 
Departed 7/1/18
 6/30/19 

1 

FTE 
Administrators 
Filling Vacant
Positions 7/1/18
 6/30/19 

1 

FTE Classroom FTE of 
Teachers Added Classroom 
in New Positions Teachers on 
7/1/18 6/30/19 6/3019 

11 25 

FTE FTE 
Administrators Administrative 
Added in New Positions on 
Positions 7/1/18
6/30/19 

6/30/19 

1 3 

1 / 2 



	 	

	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	
	

	

	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

		
	

	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	
	

	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

	

	

3. Tell your school's story 

Charter schools may provide additional information in this section of the Annual 
Report about their respective teacher and administrator attrition rates as some 

teacher or administrator departures do not reflect advancement or movement within 

the charter school networks. Schools may provide additional detail to reflect a 

teacher’s advancement up the ladder to a leadership position within the network or 

an administrator’s movement to lead a new network charter school. 

(No response) 

4. Charter schools must ensure that all prospective employees receive clearance 

through the NYSED Office of School Personnel Review and Accountability (OSPRA) 

prior to employment. After an employee has been cleared, schools are required to 

maintain proof of such clearance in the file of each employee. For the safety of all 
students, charter schools must take immediate steps to terminate the employment of 

individuals who have been denied clearance. Once the employees have been 

terminated, the school must terminate the request for clearance in the TEACH 

system. 

Have all employees have been cleared through the NYSED TEACH system? 

Yes 

5. For perspective or current employees whose clearance has been denied, have you 

terminated their employment and removed them from the TEACH system? 

Not Applicable 

Thank you 
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2019-2020 School Year Calendar 

September 5 Thursday School Opens for Students (1/2 Day for Pre-K & Kinder 

students only) 

6 Friday 1/2 Day for Pre-K & Kinder students only 

September 9– Monday thru 1/2 Day for Kinder students only 

11 Wednesday 

September  12 Thursday                 Back-to-School Night 

September 30- Monday & Rosh Hashanah (School Closed) 

October 1 Tuesday 

October 9 Wednesday Yom Kippur (School Closed) 

October 14 Monday Columbus Day Observed (School Closed) 

November 5 Tuesday Election Day (School Closed) 

November 11 Monday Veterans Day (School Closed) 

November 28- Thursday & Thanksgiving Recess (School Closed) 

29 Friday 

December 24– Tuesday thru        Winter Recess (School Closed) 

January 1 Wednesday 

January 2 Thursday School Reopens 

January 20 Monday Dr. Martin Luther King, Jr. Day (School Closed) 

February 17– Monday thru Midwinter Recess (School Closed) 

21 Friday 

April 9– Thursday thru Spring Recess (School Closed) 

17 Friday 

May 25 Monday Memorial Day Observed (School Closed) 

June 4 Thursday Chancellor’s Conference Day (School Closed) 

June 9 Tuesday June Clerical Day (School Closed) 

June 26 Friday Last Day of School for Students (Early Dismissal) 

* Calendar is subject to change 
Last Update: May 17, 2019 




